

Special Economic Growth Scrutiny Panel Agenda

Thursday 8 February 2018 at 10.00am

In the Flensburg Room, Civic Centre, Carlisle, CA3 8QG

**A pre meeting for Members to prepare for the Panel will be held at <u>9.15am</u> in the Flensburg Room **

The Press and Public are welcome to attend for the consideration of any items which are public.

Members:

Councillor Nedved (Chairman), Councillors Betton, Bowditch, Burns (Vice Chairman), Christian, Mrs Coleman, McDonald, Mitchelson, Substitute Members:

Councillors Mrs Birks, Bloxham, Mrs Mallinson, McNulty, Mrs Parsons, Paton, Patrick

PART A

To be considered when the Public and Press are present

Apologies for Absence

To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitutions.

Declarations of Interest (including declarations of "The Party Whip")

Members are invited to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests, other registrable interests, and any interests, relating to any item on the agenda at this stage.

Public and Press

To agree that the items of business within Part A of the agenda should be dealt with in public and that the items of business within Part B of the agenda should be dealt with in private.

Representatives of The Environment Agency, Cumbria County Council and Carlisle Flood Action Group have been invited to attend the meeting.

A.1 ECONOMIC IMPACT OF WINTER FLOODS 2015 TO 2016

Portfolio:Cross CuttingDirectorate:Cross CuttingOfficer:Mr Brown – Environment Agency

Background:

To consider the economic impact of the winter floods 2015 to 2016.

Why is this item on the agenda?

The Special meeting was requested by the Panel.

What is the Panel being asked to do?

1. Scrutinise the information in the documents, in particular any recommendations and next steps

A.2 FLOOD RECOVERY – SHORTLISTED OPTIONS AND TIMELINE FOR IMPLEMENTATION

Portfolio:	Cross Cutting
Directorate:	Cross Cutting
Officer:	Mr Brown and Mr Lawton – Environment Agency

Background:

To consider the options and timeline for implementing further flood defence measures in the district following Storm Desmond in December 2015.

Why is this item on the agenda?

The Special meeting was requested by the Panel.

What is the Panel being asked to do?

- 1. Scrutinise the information in the documents, in particular any recommendations and next steps.
- 2. Comment on the proposals for future flood risk management.

A.3 CUMBRIA STRATEGIC FLOOD PARTNERSHIP INCLUDING AN UPDATE ON SECTION 19 REPORTS

Portfolio:Cross CuttingDirectorate:Cross CuttingOfficer:Ms Jones and Mr Coyle – Cumbria County Council

Background:

To consider the Cumbria Strategic Flood Partnership, along with an update on Section 19 reports. A verbal update on flooding issues at Rockcliffe will be provided at the meeting.

Why is this item on the agenda?

The Special meeting was requested by the Panel

What is the Panel being asked to do?

- 1. Scrutinise the information in the documents, in particular any recommendations and next steps.
- 2. Comment on the proposals for future flood risk management.

PART B To be considered in Private

- NIL –

A copy of the agenda and reports is available on the Council's website at <u>www.carlisle.gov.uk</u> or at the Civic Centre, Carlisle.

Enquiries, requests for reports, background papers etc to: Rachel Plant, Democratic Services Officer, 01228 817557 or Rachel.plant@carlisle gov.uk

AGENDA ITEM

A.1





Estimating the economic costs of the 2015 to 2016 winter floods

January 2018

We are the Environment Agency. We protect and improve the environment.

Acting to reduce the impacts of a changing climate on people and wildlife is at the heart of everything we do.

We reduce the risks to people, properties and businesses from flooding and coastal erosion.

We protect and improve the quality of water, making sure there is enough for people, businesses, agriculture and the environment. Our work helps to ensure people can enjoy the water environment through angling and navigation.

We look after land quality, promote sustainable land management and help protect and enhance wildlife habitats. And we work closely with businesses to help them comply with environmental regulations.

We can't do this alone. We work with government, local councils, businesses, civil society groups and communities to make our environment a better place for people and wildlife.

Published by:

Environment Agency Horizon House, Deanery Road, Bristol BS1 5AH Email: enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk www.gov.uk/environment-agency Further copies of this report are available from our publications catalogue: www.gov.uk/government/publications

or our National Customer Contact Centre: T: 03708 506506

Email: <u>enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk</u>.

© Environment Agency 2018

All rights reserved. This document may be reproduced with prior permission of the Environment Agency.

Executive summary

At a national scale, the winter floods of 2015 to 2016 were the most extreme on record according to the intensity of the rainfall, resulting in widespread flooding during December 2015 and January 2016 – primarily in the north of England. This report describes the methods used to produce a high-level economic estimate of the costs resulting from the winter floods in England following Storms Desmond, Eva and Frank in December 2015.

The approaches adopted in this study are based on the methods and extensive research used for 3 previous reports published by the Environment Agency: 'The costs of 2007 floods in England'; 'Assessing the economic costs of floods'; and 'The costs and impacts of the winter 2013 to 2014 floods'.

Applying these approaches, the best estimate of economic damages for the winter 2015 to 2016 floods is £1.6 billion, with a range of £1.3 billion to £1.9 billion to take account of uncertainty. These figures are the sum of the economic damages estimated for a set of different impact categories, taking care to avoid the risk of double counting where possible from the detail of the available data. The table below presents the best estimates for the different impact categories together with an indication of their uncertainty rating.

Best estimate of economic cost of winter floods 2015 to 2016 by impact category with uncertainty rating and estimate range (2015 prices)

Impact category	Best estimate (£ million)	Low (£ million)	High (£ million)	Uncertainty rating
Residential properties	£350	£308	£392	Medium to low
Businesses	£513	£410	£616	Medium to low
Temporary accommodation	£37	£31	£43	Medium to low
Vehicles, boats, caravans	£36	£31	£41	Medium to low
Local authorities (excluding roads)	£73	£55	£92	Medium to high
Emergency services	£3	£3	£3	Medium to low
Flood management asset and service	£71	£63	£78	Low
Utilities – energy	£83	£75	£91	Low
Utilities – water	£21	£16	£26	Medium to high
Transport – rail	£121	£103	£139	Low
Transport – roads	£220	£165	£275	Medium to high
Agriculture	£7	£6	£8	Medium to low
Health	£43	£32	£54	High
Education	£4	£3	£5	High
Other (wildlife, heritage and tourism)	£19	£13	£25	High
Total	£1.6 billion	£1.3 billion	£1.9 billion	

The nature of the economic costs follow a similar pattern to the damages associated with the 2007 and the 2013 to 2014 floods, with property and transport damages dominating. However, business property damages were significantly larger than household property damages in the 2015 to 2016 floods – a pattern not normally expected and not seen in the 2007 and the 2013 to 2014 floods. In terms of scale, the economic damages from the 2015 to 2016 winter floods are similar to the 2013 to 2014 winter floods. The 2007 floods, which took place in the summer, are by some margin the largest in terms of economic damages of these 3 flood events.

The assessment of uncertainty used to inform the range for the 2015 to 2016 floods is based largely on the availability and quality of the data on damages, and the number and type of assets affected. One of the most challenging aspects of the analysis affecting the certainty of estimates is the lack of primary data on flood damages, especially for major impact categories such as residential and business properties.

The report concludes by recommending 2 actions that could help to reduce uncertainty in the estimation of flood damages for future events, as well as supporting the appraisal of different options to reduce future flood risk.

- The availability of disaggregated information from the insurance industry would significantly improve confidence in future estimates of flood damages.
- The development of data sharing agreements with key partners is likely to be the most important step that can be taken to improve the basis on which the damage estimates are made.

Contents

1.	Introduction	6
2.	Background	.9
3.	Methodology	11
	3.1. Impact categories	11
	3.2. Economic damages	11
4.	Damage estimates by impact category	14
	4.1. Damages to residential properties	14
	4.2. Damages to non-residential properties (including businesses)	16
	4.3. Damage to vehicles	20
	4.4. Temporary accommodation	21
	4.5. Loss of life and health impacts	23
	4.6. Emergency services	25
	4.7. Local authorities (excluding road damages)	26
	4.8. Flood risk management infrastructure and service	28
	4.9. Rail transport costs	29
	4.10. Road transport costs	30
	4.11. Utilities (water, electricity, telecoms)	32
	4.12. Education	36
	4.13. Damages to agriculture	38
	4.14. Other (tourism, heritage and wildlife sites)	40
5.	Summary and recommendations	42
	5.1. Recommendations	42
Re	eferences	44
Bi	bliography	46
Li	st of abbreviations	47
Ar (2	Inex A: Impact costs as a percentage of 'total costs' and 'property costs' by flood event	48

1. Introduction

This report describes the methods used to produce a high-level economic estimate of the costs resulting from the winter floods in England following Storms Desmond, Eva and Frank in December 2015.

The approaches adopted in this study are based on the methods and extensive research used for 'The costs of 2007 floods in England' (Environment Agency 2010a), 'Assessing the economic costs of floods' (Environment Agency 2013) and 'The costs and impacts of the winter 2013 to 2014 floods' (Environment Agency 2015).

Applying these approaches, the best estimate of economic damages for the winter 2015 to 2016 floods is **£1.6 billion**, with a range of **£1.3 billion to £1.9 billion** to take account of uncertainty (Table 1 and Figure 1).

impact category with	uncertainty	rating and t	-stimate i	ange (z	o i o price	53)
Impact category	2015 to 2016 winter floods (£ million)	Uncertainty rating	Range ± (%)	Low (£ million)	High (£ million)	Benefit from further research
Residential properties	£350	ML	Bespoke	£308	£392	Н
Businesses	£513	ML	15%	£410	£616	М
Temporary accommodation	£37	ML	15%	£31	£43	L
Vehicles, boats, caravans	£36	ML	15%	£31	£41	L
Local authorities (excluding roads)	£73	MH	25%	£55	£92	Η
Emergency services	£3	ML	15%	£3	£3	L
Flood risk management infrastructure and service	£71	L	10%	£63	£78	L
Utilities – energy	£83	L	10%	£75	£91	L
Utilities – water	£21	MH	25%	£16	£26	L
Transport – rail	£121	L	10%	£103	£139	L
Transport – roads	£220	MH	25%	£165	£275	Н
Agriculture	£7	ML	15%	£6	£8	L
Health	£43	Н	30%	£32	£54	М
Education	£4	Н	30%	£3	£5	L
Other (wildlife, heritage and tourism)	£19	Н	30%	£13	£25	М
Total	£1.6 billion			£1.3 billion	£1.9 billion	

Table 1: Best estimate of economic cost of winter floods 2015 to 2016 by impact category with uncertainty rating and estimate range (2015 prices)

Notes: H = high; MH = medium to high; M = medium; ML = medium to low; L = low

Figure 1: Best estimate by impact category of economic costs for winter floods 2015 to 2016 (2015 prices)



The characteristics of the economic costs of the 2015 to 2016 winter floods follow a similar pattern to those of the summer floods in 2007 and the winter flooding in 2013 to 2014, with property and transport damages dominating (Table 2). However, it is notable in the 2015 to 2016 floods that business property damages were significantly larger than household property damages – a pattern not normally expected.

In the overall scale of costs, the 2015 to 2016 floods at £1.6 billion are similar to the £1.3 billion of the 2013 to 2014 winter floods. The 2007 floods remain, by some margin, the largest economically with costs of £3.9 billion (all in 2015 prices) (Figure 2).

Impact category	2007 (summer floods) (£ million)	2013 to 2014 (winter floods) (£ million)	2015 to 2016 (winter floods) (£ million)
Residential properties	£1,500	£320	£350
Businesses	£910	£270	£513
Temporary accommodation	£120	£50	£37
Vehicles, boats, caravans	£98	£37	£36
Local authorities (excluding roads)	£170	£57	£73
Emergency services	£5	£3	£3
Flood risk management infrastructure and service	£24	£147	£71
Utilities (energy and water)	£398	£30	£104
Transport (roads, rail, air, ports)	£310	£295	£341
Agriculture	£59	£19	£7
Health	£340	£25	£43
Education	£14	£2	£4
Other (wildlife, heritage and tourism)	-	£13	£19
Totals	£3.9 billion	£1.3 billion	£1.6 billion

Table 2: Comparison of economic costs by flood event by impact category (2015 prices)

(2015 prices) (£ millions) £0 £1,200 £1,600 £2,000 £2,400 £2,800 £3,200 £3,600 £4,000 £4,400 £400 £800 Households (property, temporary

Figure 2: Comparison of economic costs by flood event by grouped impact categories



2. Background

At a national scale the winter floods of 2015 to 2016 were the most extreme on record. The November to January period was the wettest three-month sequence in the UK rainfall series. (Terry Marsh, Centre for Ecology and Hydrology)¹

December was a record-breaking month for rainfall in some parts of the UK, with exceptional amounts of rain falling onto already saturated ground. Several of the major flood events were associated with named storms (Table 3). As a result of Storm Desmond over the weekend of 5 and 6 December, England experienced the highest levels of rainfall ever recorded in a 24-hour period. Parts of Cumbria were evacuated and around 7,000 properties were initially reported as flooded. During that time the Environment Agency estimates that flood defences successfully protected 10,900 properties against flooding.

On 24 December, following Storm Eva, a further 9,000 properties were reported as flooded over the Christmas period in Yorkshire, Lancashire, Greater Manchester and Merseyside. The Environment Agency estimates that 12,500 properties were protected by Environment Agency flood defences following Storm Eva.

Name	Date of impacts (UK/Ireland)
Abigail	12–13 November
Barney	17–18 November
Clodagh	29 November
Desmond	5–6 December
Eva	24 December
Frank	29–30 December
Gertrude	29 January
Henry	1–2 February
Imogen	8 February
Jake	2 March
Katie	27–28 March

Table 3: Named storms in winter of 2015 to 2016

Notes: The storms with the greatest hydrological impacts are marked in bold. Source: Marsh et al. (2016, Table 1)

At the height of the flooding, 31 severe flood warnings were in place. Resources and personnel were deployed to where they were most needed; the multi-agency response to the flooding was organised rapidly, with the army and flood prevention assets deployed from day one and emergency funds paid out to local authorities in record time by central government. COBR met 14 times (including daily between Christmas Eve and New Year's Eve) to assess impacts and to co-

¹ Terry Marsh in the CEH press release about the report (http://www.ceh.ac.uk/news-and-media/news/ukwinter-20152016-floods-one-century%E2%80%99s-most-extreme-and-severe-flood-episodes)

ordinate where, and how, to most effectively deploy further resources from across government to support affected communities.

The Environment Agency, fire, police, other emergency response staff, military personnel, the voluntary sector and utility providers worked around the clock to help those affected. People evacuated from their homes were provided with assistance and shelter. Pumps were deployed in the affected areas and over 2.4km of temporary flood defences were erected. Emergency maintenance was carried out on permanent flood defences damaged by floodwater and debris. Throughout the event, Field Teams cleared blockages in watercourses to keep water flowing and Environment Agency incident rooms continued issuing messages warning and informing the public on local and national flood risks.

Over 1,700 military personnel were drafted in to support the rescue and recovery efforts, with around 700 deployed on the ground at any one time. The RAF played a vital role in delivering power generators to the Foss Barrier in York and repairing defences in Croston in Lancashire, using a Chinook helicopter.

The voluntary sector also played an important role: the British Red Cross, Salvation Army, Churches Together, RNLI, RSPCA and many other organisations – too many to mention – all supported those affected during the response and continue to do so in the recovery phase. The emergency services, the military, the Environment Agency, council staff and other responders were tireless in their response.

3. Methodology

3.1. Impact categories

Economic damages for flood events are estimated through a set of impact categories. These are then added together to give the total damages, taking care to avoid the risk of double counting where the detail of the available data allows.

Based on previous research for the 2007 and the 2013 to 2014 cost of floods reports and the development of the Environment Agency's Floods Cost Calculator in 2012, the impact categories included in this study are:

- Residential property damages: physical damage to residential properties and contents
- Non-residential (including business property damages): physical damage to nonresidential (including business) properties and contents
- Temporary accommodation: the costs of temporary accommodation
- · Vehicle damage: physical damage to vehicles
- **Public health**: an estimate of additional psychological distress caused to households as a result of flooding
- **Emergency services**: additional costs (for example, overtime) incurred by the emergency services (fire, police and ambulance services)
- Local authorities: damages to public buildings, public spaces and additional costs faced by local authorities such as recovery grants (damages to local roads are considered in the transport section)
- Education: welfare costs of education days lost
- Transport: costs of repairs and induced losses from disrupted journeys for road and rail
- Utilities: costs for repairs and induced losses caused by loss and/or interrupted utility services for water and electricity
- Flood risk management infrastructure and service: cost of repairs to flood defence assets and additional service costs including staff and contractor overtime and materials
- Agriculture: damage to agricultural land, including losses of output and additional production costs
- Other including tourism, heritage and wildlife sites: damage to physical assets and, where possible to determine, indirect impacts on the wider economy

The estimates for these categories were calculated through a desk-based study using national level data obtained from a range of partner organisations including:

- Association of British Insurers (ABI)
- Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG)
- Department for Energy and Climate Change (DECC) (now part of the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy)
- Highways Agency
- National Farmers' Union (NFU)
- Network Rail
- Rural Payments Agency
- water companies

3.2. Economic damages

It is important to note that the economic estimates for each of the impact categories described in this report cannot be compared directly to financial estimates such as the value of publically reported insurance claims.

Economic costs differ from financial costs as they estimate costs at a national level versus at an individual household, business or local area level. In practice this means adjusting financial costs to 'turn them into' economic costs. These adjustments include:

- taking account of transfers (such as taxes and subsidies)
- displacement of economic activity from one part of the economy to another²
- betterment³

In addition, economic assessments seek to account for welfare damages. These are typically things people care about (value), but are not necessarily easy to price. For example, economic welfare damages seek to estimate the stress and health impacts people suffer from being flooded, and the inconvenience incurred from delayed journeys by trains or roads, or losing access to their electricity and/or water services as a result of flooding.

The approaches used to make adjustments for each impact category are detailed in Section 4. Below is a summary of some of the main adjustments, which have been adopted from previous research for the 2007 and 2013 to 2014 cost of floods reports.

3.2.1. Insurance claims

Insurance claims data from ABI are adjusted to provide an economic cost estimate as follows.

- Value added tax (VAT) is removed at a rate of 20%.
- An inventory to non-inventory split of 75% to 25% is used for residential properties. This assumes that 75% of domestic insurance claims are for household contents ('inventory'), with the remaining 25% for building repairs.
- For non-residential (business) properties, the inventory to non-inventory split is assumed to be 45% to 55%.
- For the inventory items, adjustments for betterment are assumed at a rate of 50% for both residential and business.
- It is assumed only 75% of households and 95% of non-residential properties have insurance. Adjustments are made to compensate for the assumed underinsurance rates.

3.2.2. Costs not covered by insurance

Other repair and damage costs not thought to be covered by insurance are also considered to be financial costs and are adjusted for VAT and betterment to provide an economic estimate. It is recognised, however, that in certain cases the asset that was damaged and required repair or replacement was of equal quality or condition to a new asset (potentially the case for well-maintained flood defences), effectively resulting in a like-for-like replacement. Due to the lack of information on the condition of each asset damaged during a flood, a default betterment figure of 50% is considered a reasonable approach (as used in previous studies).

3.2.3. Grant money

In the absence of any better estimates, grant money is used as a proxy for the economic costs to the different stakeholders and is therefore unadjusted. These include different grants to different stakeholders such as the Severe Weather Recovery Schemes and Bellwin Scheme to help local authorities; but also flood support schemes to businesses such as the Repair and Renewal Grant Scheme and tax reliefs. However, this approach probably underestimates the total costs particularly as, in certain cases, the amount of grant funding received is capped such that the total private costs may not be covered by grants.

² For example, flooding might temporarily reduce local tourism through lost visitors. These visitors may instead choose to visit a different location in England, or spend their income on other goods and services in the economy. So while the loss of visitors may be felt locally, nationally the economic value is retained as it has been displaced to alternatives within the economy or just delayed.

³ Typically, something damaged by flooding will be replaced with an improved, more up-to-date version. So adjustments for betterment ensure that what is valued is the older item that was actually lost or damaged by the flooding (remaining value), rather than assuming the damage cost is equivalent to the cost of the replacement with the new/better/improved item.

3.2.4. Welfare impacts

Any data on welfare impacts that occurred as a result of the flooding events are considered to be an economic cost and are not adjusted.

Unless otherwise stated, all figures in this report are presented in 2015 prices.

4. Damage estimates by impact category

4.1. Damages to residential properties

The best estimate for residential property damages is £350 million, with a range of £308 million to £392 million, based on ABI claims information and DCLG estimates of the number of residential properties flooded.

Residential property damages consist of direct damages to building fabric, damage to inventory items and clean-up costs. Ideally, to assess property damages, it is necessary to know the number of properties affected and the average loss per property type. Both variables are difficult to determine accurately due to errors and inconsistencies in the data.

DCLG estimates that Storms Desmond and Eva led to 20,925 properties being damaged by flooding: 15,981 residential and 4,944 business (73% and 27% of the total respectively) (Table 4). ABI reported 9,700 residential insurance claims, from which a total of £480 million was paid out to households affected by the winter flooding. This gives an average financial residential insurance claim of approximately £50,000.⁴

	Total properties	s flooded	Residential	Business	
	Number	Percentage	properties	properties	
West Yorkshire	8,198	39%	5,753	2,445	
Cumbria	6,344	30%	5,316	1,028	
Lancashire (and Blackburn)	2,567	12%	2,029	538	
Greater Manchester	2,284	11%	1,760	524	
North Yorkshire (and York)	1,142	5%	847	295	
Northumberland	269	1%	185	84	
Merseyside (Sefton, St Helens)	49	<1%	46	3	
Warrington	36	<1%	17	19	
County Durham	24	<1%	23	1	
Herefordshire	12	<1%	5	7	
Total number of properties	20,925		15,981	4,944	

Table 4: DCLG estimates of properties damaged by flooding from StormsDesmond and Eva, December 2015 and January 2016

Source: DCLG

According to DCLG data, approximately 16,000 residential properties were damaged by flooding yet ABI reports that only approximately 10,000 insurance claims were made. While it is recognised ABI may not have complete coverage of the insurance market these figures do suggest a large number of households flooded made no insurance claim for damage. This is unusual, as typically

⁴ Personal correspondence from ABI confirmed that these figures include temporary accommodation costs.

more insurance claims than properties damaged is expected as households often make more than one insurance claim.

This apparent discrepancy in the 2015 to 2016 data suggests that there is either a high rate of underinsurance for residential properties, or the number of residential properties actually damaged by the floods is currently an overestimate, or a mixture of both. There is some anecdotal evidence to suggest there was a high degree of underinsurance but as yet this has not been confirmed.

Given this apparent discrepancy between the number of flood damaged properties and the number of insurance claims made, a high and low estimate for residential property costs has been calculated and the midpoint between them taken as the best estimate.

The first method is the same used for the 2007 and 2013 to 2014 floods to estimate residential property damages and calculates economic damages of £308 million (Low estimate in Box 1). The second method, the high estimate, assumes every property thought to have been flooded has financial damages of £50,000 (that is, the average ABI household claim value). This method provides an estimate of £392 million (High estimate in see Box 1).

Since the evidence is not available to decide the extent to which the number of damaged properties is overestimated or true extent of underinsurance, taking the midpoint between these 2 estimates is recommended. This gives a best estimate of £350 million for damage to residential properties in the 2015 to 2016 winter floods. This makes residential properties the second largest impact category by value of damages for the 2015 to 2016 winter floods after businesses (Table 1).

Box 1: Best estimate of economic residential property damages for 2015 to 2016 winter floods

Best estimate of residential property damages (\pounds 350 million) = Low estimate (\pounds 308 million) + High estimate (\pounds 392 million)/2

Low estimate of residential property damages (£308 million) = ABI residential insurance costs – temporary accommodation costs + adjustment for underinsurance – economic adjustments

where:

- ABI value of residential property claims (£480 million) = ABI public data and personal correspondence
- adjustment for temporary accommodation costs (£443 million) = £480 million £37 million (see Section 4.4)
- adjustment for underinsurance (£591 million) = £443 million/0.75
- adjustment for economic estimate (£308 million) = [(£591 million × 0.75 × 0.5) + (£591 million × 0.25)]/1.2
- economic adjustments = VAT 20%, inventory items75% of insured damages, remaining value 50%
- an average insurance penetration rate for domestic properties of 75% is assumed

High estimate of residential property damages (£392 million) = (DCLG estimated number of properties damaged by flooding × average economic cost property) – temporary accommodation costs

where:

- number of residential properties damaged by flooding (15,981) = DCLG reported numbers
- ABI financial cost per household (49,485) = from ABI data

- economic unit cost per residential property (£24,599) = [(ABI financial cost per household × 0.75 × 0.5) + (ABI financial cost per household × 0.25)]/1.2
- economic adjustments = VAT 20%, inventory items 75% of insured damages, remaining value 50%
- temporary accommodation costs = £37 million (see Section 4.4)

Key uncertainties

- Levels of underinsurance
- Average property claim per household (which may be skewed depending on the levels of underinsurance)
- Economic adjustments for VAT and betterment

4.2. Damages to non-residential properties (including businesses)

Many business properties were flooded during the winter 2015 to 2016 floods, resulting in damage to premises, equipment and fittings, and loss of stock. They also suffered disruption of business. The **best estimate for non-residential, business property damages is £513 million**, with a range of £410 million to £616 million, based on ABI claims information.

The method used to estimates business costs is the same as used in the 2007 and 2013 to 2014 cost of floods reports for business property damages (see Box 2). This method was chosen as the ABI data appear more consistent with the DCLG numbers for business properties flooded than is the case for residential properties, that is, there was a small difference between the number of insurance claims (5,600) than properties estimated to be damaged (4,944).

ABI states that 5,600 claims were made by businesses, from which £754 million was paid out by insurers, giving an average financial value of £134,696 per claim (though it is known from research in 2007 that the average business claim tends to be heavily skewed by a small number of businesses with very large flood damage costs).

Based on the insurance data, business property damages are estimated at £513 million. This makes business properties the largest category of economic damages for the 2015 to 2016 winter floods (Table 1).

Box 2: Best estimate of economic non-residential property damages for 2015 to 2016 winter floods

Best estimate of non-residential property damages (£513 million) = ABI non-residential insurance costs + adjustments for underinsurance – economic adjustments

where:

- ABI value of residential property claims (£7,540 million) = ABI public data and personal correspondence
- adjustment for underinsurance (£794 million) = £754 million/0.95
- adjustment for economic estimate (£513 million) = [(£794 million × 0.45 × 0.5) + (£794 million × 0.55)]/1.2
- economic adjustments = VAT 20%, inventory items 45% of insured damages, remaining value 50%
- an average insurance penetration rate for business properties of 95% is assumed

Key uncertainties

- Levels of underinsurance
- Average property claim per business (which may be skewed depending on the levels of underinsurance)
- Economic adjustments for VAT and betterment

4.2.1. Key uncertainties in property damage estimates (residential and non-residential)

ABI data provide a reliable national source of data on the financial costs of property damages after floods have occurred. However, uncertainties arise from the assumptions needed to take account of underinsurance and the assumptions used to make economic adjustments to financial data. The assumptions for underinsurance and economic adjustments used in this report are the same as those applied in the 2007 and 2013 to 2014 cost of floods reports. Data and anecdotal evidence suggest that the assumptions for underinsurance in particular would benefit from being reviewed. For example, there is anecdotal evidence from media reports of a high level of underinsurance in Carlisle. This supports a similar view from KMPG which, following the floods, estimated underinsurance might be as high as £1 billion (financial estimate) (KMPG 2015).

Given that property damages accrue the largest flood damages out of the impact categories, the more accurately property damages can be estimated the better. This means it is important to understand the levels of underinsurance when using ABI information as the basis of cost estimates. While the introduction of FloodRE⁵ should act to reduce underinsurance in residential properties, the overall picture of underinsurance for both residential and business properties remains unclear and merits further investigation.

4.2.2. Comparison of property damages with previous floods (2007and 2013 to 2014)

Direct property damages dominate the total costs for all 3 flood events, with property damages accounting for 62%, 56% and 53% of total costs for the 2007, 2013 to 2014, 2015 to 2016 floods respectively. In absolute terms, the summer 2007 floods remain the largest, both in terms of the number of properties flooded and the associated economic costs (Table 5).

A comparison of costs between residential and business is also worth noting. In 2015 to 2016, business damages are significantly higher (an additional £163 million more) than residential damages. This is in contrast to the 2007 and the 2013 to 2014 floods where residential costs dominated (Table 5).

Looking at estimated costs per property, the average economic damages per property remain broadly similar across the 3 events. For business properties, however, the average costs appear to be increasing faster with each flood event – even with inflation taken into account. Further data and research would be needed to understand why this might be. Is this a genuine trend due, for example, to rising labour costs or is it due to uncertainties in the data, or a random effect?

The opportunity to analyse representative samples of property level ABI insurance data would greatly improve understanding of property flood damages for both residential and business properties. At present, only single aggregated national figures are available from ABI and these are something of a blunt instrument.

4.2.3. Understanding impact category costs as a percentage of total costs and property costs

Understanding the costs of floods on different impact categories as a percentage of total costs (sum of costs of all impact categories) and property damages (sum of both residential and

⁵ FloodRE is a government and insurance industry re-insurance scheme that helps homeowners in need of insurance in flood risk areas

business damages to property) is useful for helping to predict the economic damages of future flooding (see Annex A).

This approach has been used to help develop the Environment Agency's Floods Cost Calculator (Environment Agency 2013) and to provide percentage values to support the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Appraisal Guidance (FCERM-AG) for flood defence and coastal erosion investments (Environment Agency 2010b).

The Floods Cost Calculator is used by the Environment Agency to help estimate the national economic costs of flood events when data are limited (that is, there is only an estimate of the number of properties damaged by flooding). This makes the calculator particularly useful for estimating costs rapidly during a flood event before the more detailed data become available, which is usually sometime after the floodwater has receded.

The calculator makes the assumption that most (but not all) impact categories are related to the number of properties damaged by flooding, albeit to a greater or lesser extent, such as vehicles, temporary accommodation, public health, emergency services and roads. Thus understanding damages in relation to property damages can be a useful proxy for estimating other damages. In the remainder of this report, the assessment of each impact category includes both its percentage contribution to total damages and a percentage of property damages.

Residential properties					Non-residential, business properties					
Flood event	Estimated property numbers damaged by flooding ¹	Best estimate of economic damages ² (£ million)	Percentage of total economic damages	Average financial cost per property	Average economic cost per property	Estimated property numbers damaged by flooding ¹	Best estimate of economic damages ² (£ million)	Percentage of total economic damages	Average financial cost per property	Average economic cost per property
2015 to 2016 (winter)	16,000	£350	22%	£46,000 ³ £35,000 ³ £24,000 ³	£24,000 ⁶ £18,000 ⁶ £12,000 ⁶	5,000	£513	32%	£153,000 ⁷	£99,000 ⁹
2013 to 2014 (winter)	10,500	£320	25%	£44,000 ⁴	£23,000 ⁶	3,100	£270	21%	£127,000 ⁷	£82,000 ⁹
2007 (summer)	48,000	£1,500	38%	£31,000 ⁵	£19,000 ⁶	7,000	£900	23%	£113,000 ⁸	£75,000 ⁹

Table 5: Comparison of economic property damages for different flood events (2015 prices)

Notes:

¹ Rounded to the nearest hundred for ease of comparison.

² Note that the 'best estimate of damages' does NOT equal the 'number of properties' multiplied by the 'average economic cost' due to assumptions regarding underinsurance for both residential (25%) and business properties (5%), a different methodology for the 2015 to 2016 residential estimate (see Section 4.1) and rounding.

³ Value of ABI claims data divided by the number of ABI household claims made, with the costs of temporary accommodation removed (see Section 4.1).Note there is significant uncertainty in the average value of damages for the 2015 to 2016 floods given the apparent discrepancy between the number of residential properties damaged by flooding and the number of household insurance claims made. If the same method as for the 2013 to 2014 floods is used, the unit financial value would be £24,000 with an economic value of £12,000. The midpoint between the 2 methods puts the financial costs per property at £35,000 and £18,000 for economic costs. It is recommended the midpoint value is used as the best estimate.

⁴ Value of ABI claims divided by DCLG estimate of properties damaged by flooding, with costs for temporary accommodation removed; see Section 4.1 and Environment Agency (2015).

⁵ Based on ABI claims data; see Environment Agency (2010a).

⁶ Based on the financial estimate with adjustments for VAT, inventory and betterment (see Section 4.1).

⁷ Based on ABI claims data divided by the best estimate of properties flooded. For the economic average, the adjustments are VAT at 20% and assuming 55% of claims for inventory items with 45% betterment. ABI average claim value is £135,000.

⁸ Based on ABI claims data; see Environment Agency (2010a). The average number is skewed by a few large claims and, in the 2007 report, it states the Pitt Review estimated business average damages at £92,000 while WeatherNet estimated them at £55,000 (both in 2007 prices).

⁹ Based on the financial estimate, with adjustments for VAT, inventory and betterment (see Section 4.1).

4.3. Damage to vehicles

Many vehicles (motor vehicles, boats and caravans) are damaged during flood events, with the ABI recording these costs separately from property damages. Based on the ABI claims information, the **best estimate for damage to vehicles is £36 million with a range of £31 million to £41 million**.

In the 2015 to 2016 winter flood, ABI reported 6,700 claims for vehicle damages at a total cost of \pounds 36 million, giving an average cost of \pounds 5,388 per vehicle. It is recommended this figure of \pounds 36 million from the ABI is used as the best estimate of the economic cost without any adjustments. This is the same approach as used in the 2013 to 2014 cost of floods report. No economic adjustments are made as it is assumed that:

- most vehicles have insurance
- these policies tend to price vehicles at their residual value (that is, not on a 'new for old' basis)
- most replacement vehicles purchased will be second-hand and so not subject to VAT

Box 3: Best estimate of economic vehicle damages for 2015 to 2016 winter floods

Best estimate of vehicle damages (£36 million) = number of vehicles damaged \times average cost per vehicle

where:

- number of vehicles damaged (6,700) = number of ABI vehicle insurance claims
- average cost per vehicles (5,388) = average cost per ABI vehicle insurance claim

Key uncertainties

- No adjustments have been made for underinsurance. It is assumed the majority of vehicles are insured.
- Adjustments for VAT and betterment have not been made as insurance policies for vehicles tend to price the residual value (and not a 'new for old' basis). Second-hand vehicles are VAT exempt.
- These are the same assumptions as made in the 2013 to 2014 cost of floods report.
- The split between residential and business vehicle damages is not known.

4.3.1. Comparison of vehicle damages with previous floods (2007 and 2013 to 2014)

Vehicle damages follow a very similar pattern across all 3 flood events, ranging from 2.3% to 2.8% of total damages, with unit costs of between £4,000 and £5,500 per insurance claim (Table 6).

Similar to property damages, in absolute terms, the 2007 flood event is by far the largest with more than double the number of vehicle claims being made as a result of the floods compared with the 2013 to 2014 and 2015 to 2016 floods.

Table 6: Comparison between flood events of number of vehicles damagedby flooding based on ABI insurance claims

Flood event	Number of insurance claims reported by the ABI	Average financial cost per claim ¹	Total economic cost (£ million)	% of total costs	% of property costs
2015 to 2016 (winter)	6,700	£5,400	£36	2.3%	4%
2013 to 2014 (winter)	9,000 ²	£4,100	£37	3%	6%
2007 (summer)	18,000	£5,000	£98 ³	2.5%	4%

Notes:

¹ This is a derived unit cost based on the total ABI value for vehicle damage divided by the number of claims. No data are available on the range around this average.

² Adjusted to include an estimate for the East Coast surge. Available ABI data for the winter floods did not include claims from the East Coast surge. ABI reported 5,400 claims at a cost of £22 million (an average cost of £4,100 per claim). In the 2013 to 2014 cost of floods report (Environment Agency 2015), it was estimated there were an additional 3,576 claims from coastal flooding, giving a total of 8,976 vehicle claims. ³ Some adjustments were made for underinsurance in the 2007 report based on 5% underinsurance (Environment Agency 2010a).

4.4. Temporary accommodation

With major floods, many people and businesses require temporary accommodation whether in short-term local authority evacuation centres or longer term in temporary residences. Based on ABI data, the **best estimate for temporary accommodation costs is £37 million with a range of £31 million to £43 million**.

The estimate here relates to temporary residences rather than the costs of evacuation centres as the latter are covered by the local authority impact category. For 2015 to 2016, all that is known is the number of households that received temporary accommodation payments from ABI, which is reported to be 3,600. Although ABI did not provide any cost information relating to the 3,600 claims, it did confirm that these costs were included in its total property costs of £1.3 billion.

In the absence of specific cost data for the 2015 to 2016 floods, the average cost of temporary accommodation costs from 2013 to 2014 is used instead. The 2013 to 2014 report (Environment Agency 2015) states that ABI received 2,900 claims for temporary accommodation at a financial cost of £30 million,⁶ giving an average of £10,345 per claim and total costs of £37 million (see Box 4).

Box 4: Best estimate of economic cost of temporary accommodation for 2015 to 2016 winter floods

Best estimate of temporary accommodation (\pounds 37 million) = number of households requiring temporary accommodation \times average cost per stay in temporary accommodation

where:

• number of households requiring temporary accommodation (3,600) = number of ABI claims for temporary accommodation

⁶ For the fluvial flooding during the winter floods of 2013 to 2014 it is assumed the ABI data excludes temporary accommodation resulting from floods from the East Coast surge.

 average cost per stay in temporary accommodation (£10,345) = estimated unit cost applied in the 2013 to 2014 floods report

Key uncertainties

- Unit cost per claim ABI did not provide any data on the costs of temporary accommodation for the 2015 to 2016 floods. Hence the unit cost applied is from the 2013 to 2014 cost of floods report based on ABI data. Given the longer duration of flooding in winter 2013 to 2014, this value might be on the high side for the 2015 to 2016 winter floods.
- No adjustments have been made for underinsurance there may have been households who paid for their own temporary accommodation but were not insured.
- No adjustments have been made for VAT as temporary rental properties are exempt from VAT. However, stays in hotels would have been subject to VAT.
- The split between temporary accommodations for residential households and businesses is not known.

4.4.1. Comparison of temporary accommodation costs with previous floods (2007 and 2013 to 2014)

Based on the limited data available on temporary accommodation, costs appear to be broadly similar to previous flood costs (Table 7). The costs range from 2% to 4% of total damages, with unit costs between £6,700 and £10,300 per insurance claim. The relationship to property costs is less consistent.

Also similar to other impact categories, in absolute terms, the 2007 flood event is by far the largest with almost triple the number of temporary accommodation claims being made compared with the 2013 to 2014 and 2015 to 2016 floods. This gives total temporary accommodation costs of £120 million and £50 million for the 2007 and the 2013 to 2014 floods respectively. It would be useful to be able to access ABI data to better understand the unit costs and the business versus residential split of temporary accommodation needs.

Flood event	Number of insurance claims for temporary accommodation	Average cost per temporary accommodation claim	% of total costs	% of property costs
2015 to 2016 (winter)	3,700	£10,300 ²	2%	4%
2013 to 2014 (winter)	4,800 ¹	£10,300 ³	4%	8%
2007 (summer)	14,500	£8,200 (Res.) £6,700 (Bus.)	3%	5%

Table 7: Comparison between flood events of temporary accommodation costs based on ABI insurance claims

Notes:

¹ Includes estimates for the East Coast surge.

² No unit details are available for the 2015 to 2016 floods, so same unit value from the 2013 to 2014 floods (based on ABI data) has been applied.

³ Average cost for business versus residential temporary accommodation is not known for the 2013 to 2014 floods.

4.5. Loss of life and health impacts

Floods pose a serious risk to people from fatalities to stress and other related health impacts. Estimating the cost of these impacts, however, is extremely difficult. Using the same methods applied in the 2007 and 2013 to 2014 reports the **best indicative estimate for the loss of life and health is £43 million, with a range of £32 million to £54 million**.

The effects of the floods are personal. Thousands of Cumbrians, like people in other flood-affected parts of the country, have seen their lives upturned. Many have experienced life-changing financial losses and incredible stress. Speaking with flood victims, the words that come out are despair, fear and anxiety - fear of flooding again and the anxiety of an approaching winter. Floods don't just take your home, the place where you should feel safe, they often take your future as well. Cumbrian resident Dr Ed Henderson and a coauthor of the National Hydrological Monitoring Programme review (Marsh et al. 2016)⁷

Fatalities due to flooding are linked to the type of flood event. Flash floods, which come with little or no warning, result in a higher casualty rate. For a different type of flooding caused by long periods of rainfall over large areas, which is typical for the UK, a lower mortality rate is expected.

The prevention of fatalities and injuries is an impact considered in a variety of public policies from road transport to air pollution reduction. HM Treasury's 'Green Book' recommends use of the Department of Transport (DfT) value of the reduction of risk of death in the context of road transport of about £1.145 million per fatal casualty prevented (2000 prices) (HM Treasury 2003); at 2014 prices, the value is £1.84 million per fatal casualty (DfT 2015, Table RAS60001). For injuries, the Climate Change Risk Assessment (CCRA) report suggests using a unit value of £72,000 (2010 prices) per injury (Defra 2012).

Flooding can also have a substantial impact on mental health causing fear, anxiety and depression. A study commissioned by Defra suggested households were, on average, willing to pay £200 per year (2004 prices) to avoid the negative health impacts of flooding (for events occurring less frequently than 1 in 75 years) (Defra 2004). Defra's CCRA report (2012) considers the costs of treating a case of mild depression following a flood event to be £970 (2010 prices), which can be used as an indicator of mental health impacts.

These monetary values are normally used in ex-ante⁸ policy assessments to allocate resources to protect against an abstract individual losing their life or suffering harm. They were not designed with post-event analysis in mind. Without any official post-event values, however, these values were used as a surrogate in both the 2007 and 2013 to 2014 cost of floods reports to provide an indicative sum for loss of life and health impacts.

⁷ CEH Press release (http://www.ceh.ac.uk/news-and-media/news/uk-winter-20152016-floods-one-century%E2%80%99s-most-extreme-and-severe-flood-episodes)

⁸ Based on forecasts rather than actual results.

Research by Public Health England since 2007 has sought to better understand the health impacts of flooding and this has resulted in some changes in the 2013 to 2014 cost of floods estimate methodology (Paranjothy et al. 2011). It is likely these methods will change again as the understanding of damages to health improves from the results from the ongoing research.

Box 5: Best estimate of loss of life and health impacts from 2015 to 2016 winter floods

Best estimate of loss of life and health impacts (£43 million) = surrogate cost of fatalities + surrogate cost of health impacts

where:

- surrogate cost of fatalities due to flooding (£5 million) = number of fatalities due to flooding × DfT 'average value of prevention of fatality'
- number of fatalities (3) is taken from media reports
- DfT 'average value of prevention of fatality' (£1,836,054 in 2014 prices) taken from 2015 edition of Table RAS60001 of DfT statistics RAS60
- surrogate cost for health impacts (£38 million) = cost per household × number of households affected
- cost per household (£6,400 in 2015 prices) = household willingness to pay per year to avoid health impacts of extreme flood events (£261) × discount factor in year 49 (24.495)
- number of properties affected (5,913) = number of residential properties flooded (15,981) × number of households likely to have health affects (37%)

Key uncertainties

- Given the importance of these impacts on individuals and households, these surrogate methods have been applied until further improvements can be identified as a result of ongoing research. The approach used in this report is the same as in the 2007 and 2013 to 2014 reports.
- The cost per household relies on research from 2004.
- It is assumed that health damages last 50 years, albeit discounted.

4.5.1. Comparison of casualty and health impacts with previous floods (2007 and 2013 to 2014)

There were 13 recorded fatalities resulting from the 2007 floods (Table 8). The 2007 flood report applied the ex-ante cost per fatality avoided of £1.15 million (2010 prices) and the £200 willingness to pay⁹ per household to avoid extreme flood events, with a total estimate of loss of life and health damages of £350 million (Environment Agency 2010).

There were no recorded fatalities resulting from the 2013 to 2014 floods and the estimate for health damage was £25 million. While the approach to estimating health impacts for the 2013 to 2014 floods was similar to the 2007 method, amendments were made following research at Cardiff University (Paranjothy et al. 2011). As a result, only 37% of households were estimated to suffer from health impacts rather than all households and all businesses. In the 2007 floods report, health impacts were applied to all households and all businesses, and hence the large difference in estimated damages.

⁹ The price someone is willing to pay to acquire an item or service.

Table 8: Comparison between flood events of loss of life and health impacts

Flood event	Number of fatalities	Surrogate value per fatality (£ million)	% properties estimated to have additional health impacts	Surrogate value for health impacts per household	Number of years affected	% of total costs	% of property costs
2015 to 2016 (winter)	3	£1.84 ¹	37% (Res.) 0% (Bus.)	£2614	50	3%	5%
2013 to 2014 (winter)	0	n/a	37% (Res.) 0% (Bus.)	£2614	50	2%	4%
2007 (summer)	13	£1.15 ²	100% (Res.) 100% (Bus.)	£2004	50	9%	15%

Notes:

¹ DfT statistics – Average value of prevention per reported casualty (2014 prices) (DfT 2015,

Table RAS60001)

² DfT value per fatal casualty prevented (2000 prices); given in The Green Book (HM Treasury 2003, p. 62) and quoted in Environment Agency (2010, p. 17).

³ As a result of research following the 2007 floods, the method for estimating health impacts changed for the 2013 to 2014 and 2015 to 2016 flood events.

⁴ Defra (2004) suggested households were, on average, willing to pay £200 per year to avoid the negative health impacts of flooding (for events occurring less frequently than 1 in 75 years). For the 2013 to 2014 and 2015 to 2016 floods, the value was uprated to 2014 and 2015 prices respectively. These are the same value as the Office for National Statistics reported zero Consumer Price Index inflation between 2014 and 2015.

4.6. Emergency services

Emergency services costs refer to the additional costs incurred by the police, fire and rescue, and ambulance services such as overtime and the purchase of materials and equipment. Based on data provided to DCLG, the **best estimate for emergency services is £3 million with a range of £2.6 million to £3.5 million**.

DCLG gathered information on public costs from the 2015 to 2016 floods and through personal communications. DCLG informed the Environment Agency that its estimate of the additional costs to emergency services is £3 million. This is consistent with previous floods (Table 9); it is assumed that these costs are economic costs and have not been adjusted.

In addition to costs incurred by emergency service organisations the EA

Table 9: Comparison between flood events of additional costs for emergency services

Flood event	Economic cost (£ million)	% of total costs	% of property costs
2015 to 2016 (winter)	£3	0.2%	0.4%
2013 to 2014 (winter)	£3	0.3%	0.6%
2007 (summer)	£10	0.3%	0.4%

4.7. Local authorities (excluding road damages)

The best estimate for local authority costs (excluding road damages) is £73 million with a range of £55 million to £92 million. This is based on DCLG data and information from the 2007 and 2013 to 2014 cost of floods reports (Environment Agency 2010, 2015). Note that the estimate of £73 million does not include damages to local roads and bridges even where they fall under local government responsibility. These local authority costs are included within the estimate for road transport damages in Section 4.10.

Local government is in the front line when floods occur. Local authorities assist with warning and informing, deploying temporary defences, emergency evacuations and temporary accommodation. Local authorities also suffer damages to their own public assets such as flood defences, roads, public buildings, parks and other public spaces.

Following floods, local authorities are involved in the physical clean-up process. For example, the Local Government Association estimated that an average 1.66 tonnes of household goods and freezer waste was removed from each property flooded (LGA 2016a). In addition, local authorities support recovery through a number of schemes and grants including:

- Community Recovery Scheme
- Business Support Scheme
- Property Level Resilience Scheme
- Council Tax Discount Scheme
- Business Rate Relief Scheme

The excerpts below taken from the LGA illustrate the type of impacts faced by local authorities during the 2015 to 2016 winter floods.

Calderdale: A new chapter for flood-hit library

"Hebden Bridge Library is fully reopening on Thursday 29 September, after refurbishment following the flooding at the end of last year. The Boxing Day floods caused more than £100,000 of damage to books, equipment, fixtures and fittings. Around 5,000 books, DVDs and CDs were ruined. The shelving, other furniture, counter and self-service machine were also damaged beyond repair and the children's area was completely destroyed."

North Yorkshire County Council: Tadcaster Bridge

"The council created a £300,000 temporary footbridge within a month to connect the 2 sides of Tadcaster after the town's 18th century road bridge over the River Wharfe collapsed due to the force of flood water. The council secured planning permission to widen as well as restore the main bridge using £1.4 million of LEP (local enterprise partnership) money on top of £3 million provided by the government. The bridge is due to reopen early next year. The council employed geotechnical engineers to help stabilise the A59 over high ground between Harrogate and Skipton at Kex Gill after the road was closed for 6 weeks due to the hillside cracking following the heavy Christmas rains. In the event of an emergency such as severe weather, the council will update the list of road and bridge closures."

Leeds: Flood-hit print firm back in business

"Specialist print firm ERW Print Finishers is back in business after relocating to new premises. The business, which was severely affected by the Boxing Day floods, has relocated from Hunslet with support from Leeds City Council and Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership."

Northumberland County Council: Highway flood damage repair programme

"Northumberland County Council has detailed the extensive repair programme, worth almost £15 million, that it is currently undertaking to repair the vast amount of damage inflicted on the county's highway network by record-breaking wet weather in winter 2015 to 2016. The Tyne Valley, which suffered its most catastrophic flooding since 1771, was worst affected. Almost 200 homes were flooded across the county and in Corbridge more than 50 homes were evacuated as the swollen River Tyne burst its banks with some still not able to return home."

Lancashire County Council: New scheme launched to help 'flood proof properties

"Householders and businesses affected by Storms Desmond and Eva can apply for grants of up to £5,000 to help make their homes more resilient to flooding in the future."

Source: LGA (2016b)

With such a wide variety of responsibilities and impacts, it is inevitable that floods place significant additional costs on local authorities. A survey conducted by the Local Government Association following the 2015 to 2016 floods reported the flooding would cost local authorities more than £250 million, with the worst hit authorities being Cumbria (£175 million), Calderdale (£33 million), Northumberland (£24 million) and Lancashire (£5 million) (LGA 2016a). However, the vast majority of these costs are due to road damages (see Section 4.10).

Identifying the exact nature of local authority costs in economic terms is complex. Some damages are insured against and some are covered by central government payments. However, many are not and there is currently no consistent method within DCLG for recording or reporting these flood damages or their associated costs.

Obtaining a high-level estimate of the winter floods of 2015 to 2016 by contacting each local authority affected by the floods is beyond the scope of this report. Nor are full details of central government compensation currently available, such as the funds provided under the Bellwin Scheme. For these reasons, the estimate is derived by assuming local authority damages are equivalent to 8.5% of total property damages. This percentage is based on the average percentage damages identified for local authorities in the 2007 and the 2013 to 2014 cost of floods reports for which where detailed studies of local authority damages were made (Environment Agency 2010, 2015).

Box_6: Best estimate of costs to local authorities (excluding road transport)

Best estimate of local authority costs (\pounds 73 million) = total property costs × average local authority costs as a percentage of total property damages

where:

- total property costs (£863 million) = residential property damages (£350 million) + business property damages (£513 million)
- local authority damages as a percentage of property damages (8.5%) = average of costs identified for the 2007 floods (7%) and 2013 to 2014 (10%)

Key uncertainties

• These figures would benefit from further research as details of the final applications made by local authorities under the Bellwin Scheme become available.

4.7.1. Comparison of local authority costs with previous floods (2007 and 2013 to 2014)

In 2007, estimated damage costs suffered by local authorities (excluding local road damages) were £164 million, that is, 7% of the total property damages. In 2013 to 2014, they were estimated at £60 million, that is, 10% of total property damages. Both these estimates were based on detailed and lengthy communications with local authorities, with economic adjustments made for insurance claims, VAT and betterment where appropriate and where the quality of data allowed.

The scale of damage costs as a percentage of total property damages for the 2007 and the 2013 to 2014 floods are similar (Table 10). The local authority damages in the 2015 to 2016 floods appear to follow the same pattern, with no significant differences identified. It is therefore considered reasonable to use the 8.5% of total property damages as a high-level method for estimating local authority damages (excluding road damages) fir the 2015 to 2016 floods.

Table 10: Comparison between flood events of costs incurred by local authorities

Flood event	Economic cost (£ million)	% of total costs	% of property costs
2015 to 2016 (winter)	£73 ¹	5%	9%
2013 to 2014 (winter)	£57	5%	10%
2007 (summer)	£170	4%	7%

Notes: ¹ Based on the average percentage of property costs from 2007 and 2013 to 2014 floods.

4.8. Flood risk management infrastructure and service

The best estimate for flood defence infrastructure and service is £71 million with a range of £63 million to £78 million.

This estimate is based on Environment Agency internal data and reporting on the expected funding required to repair approximately 700 flood defence assets and the service costs associated with:

- preparing for the floods
- · helping to prevent property flooding
- taking calls concerning floods
- distributing sandbags
- · clearing debris

The infrastructure repair costs are estimated to be £65 million. These costs are economic costs as they take betterment into account.

Additional service costs incurred by the Environment Agency are recorded as £5.6 million. Including staff overtime costs and additional contractor and material costs.

4.8.1. Comparison of flood defence asset repairs with previous floods (2007 and 2013 to 2014)

Repair of flood defence assets represented 4% of the total costs for the 2015 to 2016 winter floods (Table 11). This compares with £147 million in 2013 to 2014 at 11% of total costs and £23 million and less than 1% in 2007. The higher costs in 2013 to 2014 are predominately due to damages to coastal defences from the East Coast tidal surge.

Table 11: Comparison between flood events of costs incurred from flood risk
management infrastructure and service

Flood event	Estimated number of assets damaged	Economic cost (£ million)	% of total costs	% of property costs
2015 to 2016 (winter)	700	£71	4%	8%
2013 to 2014 (winter)	890	£147	12%	25%
Coastal surge	613	£100	8%	17%
Fluvial and other	277	£47	4%	8%
2007 (summer)	-	£24	1%	1%

4.9. Rail transport costs

Based on information from by Network Rail, the **best estimate for rail transport costs is £121** million with a range of £103 million to £139 million.

Railways are prone to flooding due to the many sections of track running through cuttings and tunnels that are lower than the surrounding areas. Many other lines are on flat, low-lying land with limited drainage. Floodwater can wash away ballast (the bed of stones which supports sleepers), making lines unsafe until they are re-laid. When the water level rises above the rails, trains reduce their speed to prevent damage to the train. If the track has a live conductor rail, flooding can cause a short circuit. Points and signalling equipment can fail when water enters their housing and may need replacing before services can resume (Network Rail 2016).

To reduce these risks, Network Rail has a programme of investment to raise tracks and equipment and to install pumps. There is also an operational response programme to flood warnings issued by the Environment Agency, under which teams deploy temporary barriers and clear streams and culverts of debris. Network Rail also works with the local planners to ensure adequate drainage in new developments located near railway lines (Network Rail 2016).

The estimate of costs to rail transport for the winter 2015 to 2016 flooding was provided by Network Rail through private correspondence and includes costs for both physical rail infrastructure damages and business interruption costs. The latter are used as a surrogate for passenger welfare damages.

Network Rail reports £68 million for repairing capital damages and £93 million on disruption payments (see Box 7). The Network Rail data indicate that the main damages were associated with 3 events:

- · welfare damages as a result of closure of the East Coast Line
- capital and welfare damages following the collapse of a sea wall in the Dover Folkestone area
- flooding in the north-east in the Prudhoe and Hexam area

Network Rail pointed out that:

- it is not always easy to determine what is storm damage and what is flood damage
- the estimate included some flood damages incurred in Scotland and Wales which had knockon impacts for business disruption in England

The figures given here are intended to provide an understanding of the types and scale of rail transport costs. The capital costs have been removed from the total national cost estimate to reduce the likelihood of double counting; it is assumed that Network Rail's capital costs will be covered by insurance to a greater or lesser extent, and therefore included within ABI business insurance claims.

Box 7: Best estimate of costs for rail damages and disruption

Best estimate of rail damages (£121 million) = capital costs + operational costs + welfare damages

where:

- capital costs (£28 million) = infrastructure costs supplied by Network Rail (£68 million × 0.5)/1.2
- betterment is assumed to be 50%
- VAT is assumed to be 20%
- business disruption costs (£93 million) = Network Rail supplied data on payments
- operational costs (£0 million) = Network Rail did not include operational costs

Key uncertainties

- Business disruption costs these payments are used as a surrogate for welfare damages for journey disruption. However, the Network Rail payments to operators are likely to be an underestimate of the true disruption costs to passengers.
- Assumption of betterment at 50%
- No costs have been reported for additional operational costs for rail operators or Network Rail.

4.9.1. Comparison of rail damages with previous floods (2007 and 2013 to 2014)

It is hard to draw comparisons for rail damages between different flood events. However, the costs for the 2013 to 2014 and the 2015 to 2016 floods are similar (Table 12) and, for both events, the highest damages for capital and business compensation costs resulted from failures in sea walls protecting railway lines – at Dawlish in the 2013 to 2014 floods and Dover–Folkestone in the 2015 to 2016 floods.

Table 12: Comparison between flood events of costs incurred by railtransport

Flood event	Economic cost (£ million)	% of total costs	% of property costs
2015 to 2016 (winter)	£121	8%	14%
2013 to 2014 (winter)	£110	9%	19%
2007 (summer)	£44	1%	2%

4.10. Road transport costs

Based on local authority, DCLG and Highways Authority data, the **best estimate for road** transport costs is £220 million with a range of £165 million to £275 million.

Roads for the most part are publically owned by either local authorities for the local road network or the Highways Agency for the strategic road network. Both networks are susceptible to flood events, resulting in capital damages to the physical road infrastructure and welfare costs for users of the networks who face disrupted journeys.

During the winter floods of 2015 to 2016, there was considerable disruption to both local roads (and bridges) and the strategic road network. Local authorities reported more than £250 million in damages to roads bridges, public rights of way and drainage systems, and requested £220 million

from central government for repairs. DCLG has to date provided £179 million to local authorities in response to these requests (DCLG 2016). While the above provides estimates for physical damages, welfare damages are not known. Local authorities have not provided any estimate of the journeys disrupted due to floods on their local roads.

The strategic road network covers approximately 4,300 miles of road, with more than 4 million vehicle movements a day. This approximately 2% of the total road network accounts for about a third of all the traffic and it is estimated that 10% of this network is vulnerable to flooding (Environment Agency 2015). During the 2015 to 2016 floods, the Highways Agency tracked more than 850 road flood incidents on the strategic road network including lane and slip road closures on the M6. However, the Highways Agency has not reported any capital damages or estimated the welfare disruption costs of these 850 incidents.

Although unreported, it is assumed that welfare costs due to disruption across the local and strategic road network must have been considerable. This is particularly so where roads were closed for several weeks, such as at Tadcaster where the bridge was washed away and the closure of part of the A591 in Cumbria between Grasmere and Keswick. The A591 is one of the main roads through Cumbria and it is estimated that between 4,000 and 7,000 journeys a day were disrupted during the 6 months following the landslip. Indeed a year on from the floods, at least 5 routes remain subject to closure and diversions.

It is beyond the scope of this study to make an assessment of the welfare costs for the extensive road delays experienced during the flooding. It was therefore decided to use the value reported by local authorities (£220 million) without any economic adjustments as the best estimate of all road damages – both physical and welfare. This is the same approach taken in the 2013 to 2014 cost of floods report (Environment Agency 2015) and is informed by the 2007 cost of floods study (Environment Agency 2010). The approach is, however, recognised as being an uncertain estimate for welfare damages.

Box 8: Best estimate of costs incurred by road damages and delays

Best estimate of road damages (£220 million) = local authority estimate of cost of repairs to local road networks

where:

- 50% is assumed to be for economic damages for the local and strategic road networks
- 50% is assumed to be for welfare damages (delay and disruption) for the local and strategic road networks

Key uncertainties

• The assumptions on welfare damages

4.10.1. Comparison of road damages with previous floods (2007 and 2013 to 2014)

In 2007, road damages were estimated to account for £234 million (6% of total damages) (Table 13). Welfare damages were roughly estimated to account for more than half this figure, that is, they accounted for more than double the physical economic repair costs.

In 2013 to 2014, road damages were estimated at £179 million, 14% of total damages. This includes a Highways Agency estimate of disruption costs on the strategic road network of £1.3 million for the most severe incidents. However, the bulk of the £179 million is made up of the money paid to local authorities by central government for repairing physical damages to local roads. This figure was not adjusted for betterment or VAT, which would have reduced this number by approximately half. The economic adjustments were not made so as to take into account welfare damages from delays and disruption. Hence it is implicit that there was roughly a 50:50 split between capital and welfare damages, as informed by the analysis made in 2007.
Table 14 shows the number and severity of flood incidents on the strategic road network for the 2013 to 2014 winter floods and the 2015 to 2016 winter floods. The Highways Agency ranks and records flood incidents according to severity using its Flood Severity Index; 10 is the highest severity and 1 the least (Environment Agency 2015). This index takes account of both the duration of an incident and the classification of the road. While there were more incidents in the 2013 to 2014 winter floods in total, there were more severe incidents (types 7 to 10) in the 2015 to 2016 winter floods (109 compared with 71). There are no equivalent data for the 2007 floods, as it was only after the 2007 floods that this method was developed for mandatory reporting on the strategic road network.

Table 13: Comparison between flood events of costs incurred by roaddamages and delays

Flood event	Economic cost (capital and welfare) (£ million)	% of total costs	% of property costs		
2015 to 2016 (winter)	£220	14%	25%		
2013 to 2014 (winter)	£179	14%	31%		
2007 (summer)	£234	6%	10%		

Table 14: Number of flood incidents recorded by the Highways Agency on the strategic road network during 2013 to 2014 and 2015 to 2016 flood events

Flood Severity Index	Number of flood traffic incidents					
	2013 to 2014 winter floods	2015 to 2016 winter floods				
10	4	3				
9	12	19				
8	9	26				
7	46	61				
6	125	50				
5	107	121				
4	105	109				
3	69	145				
2	12	22				
<1	502	297				
Total recorded flood incidents	991	853				

4.11. Utilities (water, electricity, telecoms)

The **best estimate for utilities is £104 million, with a range of £91 million to £117 million**. This is based on information provided by water companies, DECC and 'Living without electricity', a report from the Royal Academy of Engineering, Lancaster University and the Institution of Engineering and Technology about the experience of the city of Lancaster (Kemp 2016).

Utilities like transport are frequently disrupted by flood events. Utility costs relate to:

- physical damages to infrastructure
- additional operational costs
- welfare damages to consumers who suffer disruption or loss of services

While reported here to provide an understanding of the types and scale of utility costs, the capital costs for both water and energy utilities are removed from the total national cost estimate. This is to avoid double counting as it is assumed the capital costs will be covered by insurance to a greater or lesser extent and so included within the ABI business insurance claims.

Water

Through private correspondence, water companies reported operational and infrastructure costs of £97 million,¹⁰ 5% of total costs. The majority of these costs arise from clearing sewers and pumping floodwater. No welfare damages were reported for loss of water services, although there is some anecdotal evidence to suggest some sewerage services to a few customers were disrupted for a short period of time.

Box 9: Best estimate of costs incurred by damages to water utilities

Best estimate of water utility damages (£83 million) = capital costs + operational costs + welfare damages

where:

- capital costs (£10 million) = reported water company costs [(£97 million) \times 0.25 \times 0.5]/1.2
- operational costs (£73 million) = reported costs by water companies (£97 million × 0.75)
- it is assumed that 75% of costs are operational and 25% are capital
- betterment (residual value) at 50% is assumed for capital costs
- VAT at 20% is assumed for capital costs
- welfare damages from loss of utility (£0 million) = there were no reports of extensive or prolonged loss of water services

Key uncertainties

- Split between capital and operational costs this is based on correspondence with water companies, which reported similar total estimated costs and types of costs incurred. However, only one water company reported its operational to capital split and so it was assumed the same split applied to all companies.
- Assumption of betterment at 50% for capital costs

Electricity

For electricity, DECC estimated additional operational and infrastructure costs of £11million;¹¹ welfare damages from loss of power are estimated at £10 million using a £3 per hour compensation rate (as per the 2013 to 2014 report), which equates to approximately £70 per day.¹²

Some 61,000 households in Lancaster and 13,000 in Carlisle are estimated to have lost power as a result of the floods. The most serious incident being the Lancaster power cuts.

In Lancaster, a substation was inundated when its flood defences were overtopped and more than 100,000 people suffered from power cuts which lasted on and off for up to 3 days. The Lancaster University study provides a vivid account of the impact of these power cuts and found that the

¹⁰ The water companies expected there to be some additional operational costs.

¹¹ As the operational versus capital damage split is unknown, the figure from DECC has not been adjusted. ¹² Electricity suppliers are required to compensate customers at a rate of £70 per day for a continuous loss service over 48 hours due to storms; source Citizens Advice Bureau and Ofgem.

welfare damages from loss of power affect a much wider set of day-to-day activities than maybe first thought (Kemp 2016).

As a result, the Lancaster University study suggests that traditional estimates of willingness to pay, to avoid or accept loss of power may underestimate the true welfare damages. The report provides a summary:

Because electricity is always there, we have come to rely on it without question and have allowed it to infiltrate all aspects of our lives. The gas central heating in our houses relies on electrical controls and circulating pumps; our cordless phones, computers, Wi-Fi routers and some door locks all need a mains supply. And increasingly we have migrated the way we live from paper to electronic systems – we pay for a coffee with a contactless card, read our bank statement online, keep our address book in 'the cloud' and send emails rather than letters.

In December 2015, life for more than 100,000 people in Lancaster reverted to a pre-electronics era. A flood at an electricity substation resulted in a blackout over the entire city that lasted for more than 24 hours. Suddenly people realised that, without electricity, there is no internet, no mobile phones, no contactless payment, no lifts and no petrol pumps. Although these dependencies were not difficult to see, few had thought through the implications of losing so many aspects of modern life at once. Foreword by Sir Mark Walport, Chief Scientific Adviser to HM Government

Box 10: Best estimate of costs incurred by damages to electricity utilities and loss of service

Best estimate of electricity utility damages (£21 million) = capital costs + operational costs + welfare damages

where:

 infrastructure and operational costs (£11 million) = DECC reported in personal communications that damages were in the region of £10 million to £11.2 million

- welfare damages from loss of utility (£10 million) = number of properties without power (60,987 in Lancaster) × cost per hour (£3) × number of hours without power (56 hours)
- number of properties and hours without power comes from the Lancaster University study (Kemp 2016)

Key uncertainties

- In the absence of information about the split between capital and operational costs for power companies, economic adjustments have not been made to the figure provided by DECC on the assumption that most of the costs would be operational.
- A welfare damage cost of £3 per hour per household is the value used in the 2013 to 2014 report. This is in line with willingness to pay and willingness to accept studies, and compensation payments of £70 per day for power cuts over 24 hours. However, as the Lancaster study suggests, this may be an underestimate.
- The assumption that all households lost power for the full 56 hours is an overestimate. It has been applied to allow for the likely underestimate in the £3 figure and to take some account of the other households who lost power as a result of the floods (for example, in Carlisle and other parts of Cumbria) for which details are not available to enable an informed estimate.

Telecoms

In addition to water and electricity, it is known that telecom services in Leeds and York were disrupted due to the floods. A BT exchange was inundated in York and a Vodafone data centre was all but submerged in Leeds. As with electricity networks, telecom networks have substantial capacity and are able to re-route services relatively quickly even in the face of severe flooding (assuming power networks are still available!).

No data have been provided by telecom companies and so the extent of the physical damages or the number of telecoms customers affected, or for what duration, is not known. It is therefore not possible to estimate either the physical or welfare damages for the telecoms impacts associated with York and Leeds.

4.11.1. Comparison of utility damages with previous floods (2007 and 2013 to 2014)

In the 2007 floods, the total utility losses were estimated at £397 million, 10% of total damages (Table 15). Loss of power affected 750,000 people and 350,000 people had their water supply interrupted for 17 days (Pitt 2008). Unit costs for welfare damages were estimated at £18 per household per day for water interruptions and at approximately £60 per household per day for power interruptions.

Following the 2007 summer floods, the Pitt Review recommended improving the protection and resilience of critical national infrastructure, anticipating that utility disruption costs would decrease in future. In the water industry in 2009, for example, Ofwat included approximately £400 million for network and asset resilience schemes to protect more than 150 critical, at-risk assets and to carry out 13 major network resilience schemes. Ofwat estimated that 9.6 million people would benefit from increased service resilience to external hazards such as flooding. Between 2010 and 2015, water companies invested approximately £800 million to reduce the risk of damage from sewer flooding to over 5,000 properties through improved sewer capacity, sustainable drainage systems and property protection (Ofwat 2009).

No doubt in part due to the flood protection investment programmes implemented by utility companies, utility damages from the 2013 to 2014 floods were estimated at only £30 million, 2% of total damages for both infrastructure and welfare damages. This was a fraction of the 2007 utility costs, and although utility damages did increase in 2015 to 2016 compared with 2013 to 2014, they are still approximately a quarter of the costs seen in 2007 (Table 15).

Table 15: Comparison between flood events of costs incurred by utilities and loss of utility services

Flood event	Economic cost (capital and welfare) (£ million)	% of total costs	% of property costs			
2015 to 2016 (winter)	£104	7%	12%			
Water	£83	5%	10%			
Electricity	£21	1%	2%			
2013 to 2014 (winter)	£30	2%	5%			
Water	£29	2%	5%			
Electricity	£1	0.1%	0.1%			
2007 (summer)	£397	10%	17%			
Water	£227	6%	10%			
Electricity	£169	4%	7%			

4.12. Education

The best estimate for the cost of education days lost and capital damages is £4 million, with a range of £3 million to £5 million. This figure is based on the Lancaster University report, 'Living without electricity' (Kemp 2016) and information from the Department of Education (DfE) given in the 2007 and the 2013 to 2014 cost of floods reports (Environment Agency 2010, 2015).

Through private correspondence, DfE provided a figure of estimated capital damages in the region of £4 million to 16 schools covered under the government's Risk Protection Arrangements (economic adjustments would reduce this figure to £1.7 million). However, it is understood that these costs do not include damages to local authority managed schools for which no specific information was obtained.

An impact of the power failure in Lancaster in the 2015 to 2016 winter floods saw the closure of schools across Lancaster for 2 days in December and the closure of the University of Lancaster for 5 days. At a rough estimate this could have resulted in as many as 120,000 lost education days.

Lancaster University has over 12,000 students, giving a maximum of 60,000 education days over 5 days. There were also 61,000 homes without power in Lancaster and, if it is assumed half of these had a child in some kind of education, this would be another 60,000 days lost over 2 days. These assumptions give a high estimate of possible education days lost of 120,000. There may also be households that were not affected by power failures but which were affected by school closures. In addition, there are likely to have been some school closures or absences in other flooded areas due to flooding in Carlisle and other parts of Cumbria for which no data have been obtained.

In 2007, the value of an education day lost was priced at the average weighted cost of a school day per pupil (£30 per day per pupil in 2015 prices). In 2005, however, the National Audit Office estimated welfare damages of unauthorised absences as much higher as £275 per day per pupil (in 2005 prices) (NAO 2005).

Using the \pounds 30 value and the high estimate of 120,000 school days lost gives a high estimate of \pounds 3.7 million for lost education days from the 2015 to 2016 floods.

Due to uncertainties in the number of all schools damaged and the number of school days lost, it was decided to estimate the economic value of education costs using a percentage of total property costs, based on the average between the 2007 and 2013 to 2014 education cost estimates. This gives an estimate of £4 million (see Box 11), which is broadly in line with the costs provided by the DfE and the rough estimate for possible education days lost.

Box 11: Best estimate of welfare costs from lost education days

Best estimate of education days lost (£4 million) = total property damages \times percentage of property costs

where:

- total property costs (£863 million) = residential property damages (£350 million) + business property damages (£513 million)
- percentage of property costs (0.4%) = average education costs from 2007 (0.59%) and 2015 to 2016 (0.27%) education as a percentage of total property costs

Key uncertainties

- Percentage value of 0.4%
- Number of schools suffering damages
- Number of pupil days lost

4.12.1. Comparison of education damages with previous floods (2007 and 2013 to 2014)

In 2007, the economic cost of lost education days was included, with more than 400,000 days estimated to have been lost. The cost was assumed to be equal to the average expenditure of £25 per pupil day (2007 prices), giving a total estimated cost of £14 million (2015 prices) and 0.4% of total costs (Table 16). However, it was noted in the 2007 report that the National Audit Office valued unauthorised absences from school at a very much higher rate of £275 per day (2005 prices) (Environment Agency 2010). Using this figure would have increased the welfare education damages from the 2007 floods to £110 million – an order of magnitude greater.

The 2013 to 2014 report did not estimate education days lost as there was little evidence of major or prolonged school closures, given that the worst of the flooding occurred during the school holidays. However, the report did estimate physical damages to educational buildings and assets at £2 million (Environment Agency 2015).

Flood event	Economic cost (£ million)	% of total costs	% of property costs
2015 to 2016 (winter)	£4 ¹	0.2%	0.4%
2013 to 2014 (winter)	$\pounds 2^2$	0.1%	0.3%
2007 (summer)	£14	0.4%	0.6%

Table 16: Comparison between flood events of education costs

Notes:

¹ Based on the average percentage of property costs from the 2007 and the 2013 to 2014 floods.

² In 2013, education costs were estimated for the physical damages to schools only. No estimate of education days lost was included as the worst of the flooding occurred during the school holidays.

4.13. Damages to agriculture

The **best estimate of agricultural costs is £7 million, with a range of £6 million to £8 million**. This estimate is based on Environment Agency LiDAR¹³ and GIS¹⁴ data, plus information from the NFU and ADAS.

The economic damages of a flood event on farmland depend mainly on the type of land use, the duration of the flooding and the seasonal timing of flooding. Agriculture is particularly vulnerable in the summer period when crops are nearing harvest and the use of grassland for livestock is most productive. Research and empirical evidence suggest that most crops can recover from floods of less than one week during their growing periods, although yields are likely to be reduced. Flooding of more than one week results in much higher yield penalties, possibly to the point where harvesting is uneconomic. Flooding that occurs 4–6 weeks before harvesting can lead to complete crop loss, especially if crops are completely inundated.

In the 2015 to 2016 winter floods, it is estimated from Environment Agency LiDAR and GIS data that some 16,556ha of agricultural land were flooded in the North of England. Defra estimates that 650 farms were affected by storm and flood damages.

An NFU survey of flood-hit farmers in Cumbria found that the main types of damages at 220 of these farms which responded were to property, machinery, livestock, fences and river boundaries (NFU 2016); an extract from the survey report is reproduced in Figure 3. From the survey responses, the NFU found that 144 of the farms suffered total damages estimated at £1.7 million, giving an average cost of £12,000 per farm. If this average is applied to all 650 farms this gives total damages of £7.8 million.

Following the floods, central government established an agricultural flood recovery fund of £10 million to support costs incurred by farmers; by early September 2016 approximately £1 million had been paid to flood-hit farmers to reimburse them for completed repairs (Rural Payment Agency and Defra 2016) while applications totalling over £9 million had been approved by the Rural Payments Agency (Table 17).

However, the extent to which the costs identified by the NFU would be covered by insurance and so already be included in the ABI residential and business property figures in Sections 4.1 and 4.2 is not known. Nor is it understood the extent to which the estimated repair costs covered by the Farming Recovery Fund include betterment.

County	Number of applications approved	Value (£)
Cumbria	559	5,525,862
Yorkshire	244	1,764,468
Lancashire	149	1,158,675
Northumberland	61	479,607
County Durham	15	128,411
Greater Manchester	7	59,381
Total	1,035	9,116,604

Table 17: Applications approved by the Farming Recovery Fund

Source: Rural Payments Agency and Defra (2016)

¹³ LiDAR is an acronym for Light Detection And Ranging. LiDAR technology uses light sensors to measure the distance between the sensor and the target object. From an aircraft this includes objects such as the ground, buildings and vegetation.

¹⁴ A geographical information system (GIS) is a computer systems for capturing, storing, checking, and displaying data related to the earth's surface. GIS can show many different kinds of data on one map. This enables people to more easily see, analyse and understand patterns and relationships.

Figure 3: Extract from NFU report of its survey of flood-hit farmers in Cumbria

	Total losses /		Number of respondents that provided an	% respondents that provided
	damage	Average loss	estimate	an estimate
Residential buildings & contents	£529,400	£22,058.33	24	11.0%
Non-residential farm buildings	£175,000	£9,210.53	19	8.7%
Machinery	£52,200	£5,220.00	10	4.6%
Fence / boundary damage	£888,650	£6,888.76	129	58.9%
Fence / boundary damage usiness diversification loss e.g. B&B	£888,650 £54,550	£6,888.76 £3,636.67	129 15	58.9% 6.8%
Fence / boundary damage Rusiness diversification loss e.g. B&B • We asked respondents to pro- categories shown above but no an estimate at the time of interv • Some respondents provided e above) and the mast common	£888,650 £54,550 wide estimates all responden view estimates for o	£6,888.76 £3,636.67 for the poten ts that experie	129 15 tial cost of repairs need damage were	58.9% 6.8% s under the f e able to prov gories not lis
Fence / boundary damage Business diversification loss e.g. B&B • We asked respondents to pro categories shown above but no an estimate at the time of interv • Some respondents provided e above) and the most common are not fully quantified in most of	£888,650 £54,550 wide estimates of all responden riew estimates for of examples of su cases	£6,888.76 £3,636.67 for the poten ts that experie ther costs inci ch costs are s	129 15 tial cost of repairs nced damage were urred (i.e. in cate hown in point 1.6.	58.9% 6.8% s under the f e able to prov gories not lis 2 although the

9% reported average damage to non-residential farm buildings of just over £9k. Around half
of this group have costs of between £100 to £1500 compared to the other half with costs
between £2k and £80k

- 7% provided average estimates of £3.6k losses on business diversification e.g. B & Bs. Costs range from £250 to £25k
- 5% reported an average of £5k machinery damage with costs ranging from £200 to £20k

Given uncertainties around the level of insurance, betterment and loss of production, the method used to estimate the economic damages from agriculture for 2015 to 2016 is the number of hectares of agricultural land flooded multiplied by an average cost per hectare for winter flooding of \pounds 425 as recommended by ADAS as part of research (ADAS 2014) for Defra carried out for the 2013 to 2014 cost of floods report (see Box 12).

Box 12: Best estimate of costs incurred by agriculture

Best estimate of agricultural costs (\pounds 7 million) = hectares of agricultural land flooded × average cost per hectare for winter flooding

where:

- area flooded (16,556ha) = estimate from Environment Agency LiDAR and GIS data
- cost per hectare (£425) = based on ADAS research carried out for Defra for the winter 2013 to 2014 floods and supplementary interviews

Key uncertainties

- Duration and hectares flooded: the LiDAR data were taken after the floods had peaked so may underestimate the area of agricultural land damaged by flooding.
- Cost per hectare: this is based on the 2013 to 2014 winter floods estimated from farms on low-lying flood plains and so may not be directly applicable to the upland farming areas of Cumbria where significant flooding occurred in the 2015 and 2016 event. The ADAS method focuses primarily on production and the costs of production.

• It is difficult to identify the level of damages for farms covered by insurance. It is assumed property damage and contents will be insured (residential properties and contents, and farm buildings contents including farm machinery).

4.13.1. Comparison of agricultural damages with previous floods (2007 and 2013 to 2014)

The 16,556ha of farmland flooded in the winter 2015 to 2016 floods is far less than the 42,000ha and 45,000ha flooded in the 2007 and the 2013 to 2014 flood events respectively (Table 18).

For the 2007 floods, a comprehensive assessment at field and farm level by ADAS (covering 5,800ha or 14% of the affected area) identified damages of £61 million, 1.5% of total costs (ADAS 2008). Over 80% of flood damage costs were associated with losses of output and additional production costs; the rest concerned damage to farm assets such as machinery, property and infrastructure. The ADAS study also derived average unit values according to crop and farm type. These ranged from £7,000 per hectare for horticultural and £1,000 per hectare for dairy farms and cereal farms to £600 per hectare for livestock grazing, with average flood costs at around £1,300 and £650 per hectare for arable land and grassland respectively (Environment Agency 2010a, Table 3.1). The overall average loss per hectare was £1,207 (2010 prices).

In 2013 to 2014, Defra commissioned ADAS to assess agricultural impacts supplemented with farm interviews. Although the area flooded was similar, the costs were substantially lower at \pounds 19 million – a difference primarily attributable to the season, with winter flooding instead of flooding in the peak summer months as seen in 2007.

Flood event	Estimated area of agricultural land flooded	Average unit cost per hectare ¹	Economic cost (£ million)	% of total costs	% of property costs
2015 to 2016 (winter)	17,000ha	£425	£7	0.4%	1%
2013 to 2014 (winter)	45,000ha	£425	£19	1.5%	3%
2007 (summer)	42,000ha	£1,150	£61 ²	1.6%	3%

Table 18: Comparison between flood events of agricultural damages

Notes:

¹ Based on ADAS reports for the summer 2007 floods and the winter 2013 to 2014 reports (ADAS 2008, 2014).

² Although similar areas of land were flooded in the 2007 and the 2013 to 2014 events, the 2007 floods were summer floods where damage costs are significantly higher.

4.14. Other (tourism, heritage and wildlife sites)

Based on the findings of the 2013 to 2014 cost of floods report, the **best estimate of damages to tourism**, heritage and wildlife sites is £19 million, with a range of £13 million to £25 million.

It is beyond the scope of this report to make a detailed national economic analysis of the impacts of the 2015 to 2016 floods on tourism, heritage and wildlife sites. In the absence of specific data on these categories, the percentage of property costs method has been used based on the 2013 to 2014 percentage of 2.3%. It is recognised there is a very large degree of uncertainty in this estimate.

4.14.1. Comparison of tourism, heritage and wildlife site damages with previous floods (2007 and 2013 to 2014)

The 2007 cost of floods report did not consider these categories in its economic assessment and they were considered for the first time in the 2013 to 2014 cost of floods report (Environment Agency 2015).

For tourism, it was found to be very difficult to estimate national damages as most of the impacts on tourism are likely to be either delayed or transferred to other goods and services in the economy. So while the local impacts on flooded areas can be severe, at the national level most of the income is not lost to the economy as it is likely to be spent elsewhere in the economy. As recommended in the 2013 to 2014 cost of floods report, further research is needed to better understand the impacts on tourism.

With respect to heritage and wildlife sites, the 2013 to 2014 study conducted detailed communications with site owners and managers of wildlife and heritage sites. This resulted in the gathering of extensive data on the types of physical damages incurred for example to paths, visitor buildings, car parks and historical assets. Economic repair costs were estimated in the 2013 to 2014 cost of floods report, but there was no attempt to value any welfare losses from damage to national heritage or biodiversity.

In 2013 to 2014, the total economic estimate for these other categories was £13 million (£2.4 million, £7.7 million and £3.5 million for wildlife, heritage and tourism respectively), 2.3% of total economic property damages and 1% of total economic costs.

5. Summary and recommendations

At a national scale, the winter floods of 2015 to 2016 were the most extreme on record according to the intensity of the rainfall, resulting in widespread flooding during December 2015 and January 2016.

This high-level assessment is based on the methods and extensive research carried out for:

- 'The costs of 2007 floods in England' (Environment Agency 2010a)
- 'Assessing the economic costs of floods' (Environment Agency 2013)
- 'The costs and impacts of the 2013 to 2014 winter floods' (Environment Agency 2015)

Applying these approaches, the best estimate for the economic damages in England from the winter 2015 to 2016 floods is £1.6 billion, with a range of £1.3 billion to £1.9 billion to take account of uncertainty.

The nature of the economic costs follow a similar pattern to the damages associated with the 2007 and the 2013 to 2014 floods, with property and transport damages dominating. However, it is notable that business property damages were significantly larger than household property damages in the 2015 to 2016 floods – a pattern not normally expected.

In terms of scale, the economic damages from the 2015 to 2016 winter floods are similar to the 2013 to 2014 winter floods. The 2007 floods are, by some margin, the largest in terms of economic damages of the 3 flood events.

The assessment of uncertainty used to inform the range for the 2015 to 2016 floods is based largely on:

- the availability and quality of the data on damages
- · the number and type of assets affected

One of the most challenging aspects of the analysis affecting the certainty of estimates is the lack of primary data on flood damages, especially for major impact categories such as residential and business properties. The importance of having high quality primary data on the actual damages incurred on which to base the estimates of total damages is fundamental, yet remains an ongoing difficulty.

5.1. Recommendations

This is the fourth Environment Agency report to estimate the economic costs of a flood event. Starting with the detailed research into the 2007 summer floods (Environment Agency, 2010) the methods have been progressively improved, refined and peer reviewed (Environment Agency 2013, 2016). From these studies the broad pattern of damages caused by major flood incidents is now well understood. The balance broadly correlating with the nature of land use in the flooded areas, with some inevitable variations.

Nonetheless while the broad pattern of costs is well understood there remains a significant degree of uncertainty in exact estimates due to the inherent difficulties of data availability and gathering. Learning from this report and the previous three. The recommendations listed below are considered the most likely to help reduce uncertainty in the estimation of flood damages for future events, as well as supporting the appraisal of different options to reduce future flood risk.

5.1.1. Additional information on insurance claims

Nationally aggregated ABI data underpins estimates for residential and business property damages, temporary accommodation costs and vehicle damages. Impact categories which on average account for more than 60% of total flood damages for any given flood (Annex A).

ABI data is a reliable source of information as it is based on actual costs incurred. However, flood cost estimates could be improved if:

- ABI reported on a consistent set of national numbers for each flood event (for example ABI has reported on temporary accommodation costs for some flood events but not all).
- national insurance data could be disaggregated in order to better understand the component parts of household and business insurance claims. In particular this would help to review the assumptions used to make economic adjustments to the national insurance figures and is discussed below.

5.1.2. Review the assumptions on economic adjustments for properties

Damage to property, residential and business, is consistently the single biggest cost arising from floods (more than 50%, Annex A). Property damages are also used as the basis for estimating the damages to other impact categories in the Environment Agency's Floods Cost Calculator (Environment Agency, 2013). This means reducing uncertainty in property cost estimates has a significant impact on the overall robustness of flood cost estimates.

It is recommended property damage estimates can be improved by:

- improving further the methods for estimating the number of properties actually physically damaged by flood events. This is addressed in 5.1.3. below where improved working and data sharing with DCLG would be beneficial.
- reviewing the economic adjustments made to financial estimates of property damages (see section 3.2 for detail on these adjustments).

These economic adjustments were first applied in the report on the 2007 floods (Environment Agency 2010) and have been similarly used since in order to aid comparison between flood events. These adjustments include assumptions on:

- the level of underinsurance in both the residential property and business property markets
- the make-up of insurance claims with respect to the average percent of claims made for content damage versus building damage

Since 2007 both the economy and insurance markets have undergone significant change and it is therefore recommended these assumptions be reviewed. In particular the evidence on the level of under insurance with respect to flood damages.

5.1.3. Data sharing agreements

The development of data sharing agreements with key partners is an important step that can be taken to improve the basis on which the damage estimates are made. If agreements and data champions were in place, information could be improved in quality and provided in a more timely and efficient manner. This would improve the robustness of the results and enable better interrogation of data in terms of unit values for the type of flood, duration and differences between locations. These partners would include:

- DCLG
- Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS)
- DfT
- Highways Agency
- Lead Local Flood Authorities
- Local Government Association
- Network Rail

Furthermore, major flood damage costs arise in sectors providing critical infrastructure and services, notably transport and utilities. These involve a mix of corporate and quasi-government organisations that provide important public services in which disruption as well as asset damage is a major source of impact. Improved data sharing agreements with such organisations, whereby data on major flood impacts are assembled and made available to support public policy in flood risk management on the protection of critical services and infrastructure. This would be of mutual benefit, potentially helping those organisations to formulate flood risk reduction strategies.

References

ADAS, 2008. Impacts of 2007 summer floods on agriculture. Report to Defra. Cambridge: ADAS.

ADAS, 2014. *Impact of 2014 winter floods on agriculture in England*. Report prepared for Defra. Abingdon, Oxfordshire: ADAS UK Ltd.

DCLG, 2016. *Flood Recovery Briefing Book,* version 8, 16 April 2016. London: Department for Communities and Local Government.

DEFRA, 2004. *The appraisal of human-related intangible impacts of flooding.* R&D Technical Report FD2005/TR. London: Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs.

DEFRA, 2012. *UK climate change risk assessment. Evidence Report.* London: Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs.

DFT, 2015. Accident and casualty costs. RAS60. London: Department for Transport.

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY, 2010a. *The costs of 2007 floods in England*. Report SC070039/R1. Bristol: Environment Agency.

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY, 2010b. *Flood and coastal erosion risk management appraisal guidance.* FCERM-AG. Bristol: Environment Agency.

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY, 2013. Assessing the economic costs of floods. A rapid methodology and user guide. Bristol: Environment Agency.

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY, 2015. *The costs and impacts of the winter 2013 to 2014 floods*. Report SC140025/R1. Bristol: Environment Agency.

HM TREASURY, 2003. *The Green Book. Appraisal and evaluation in central government.* London: TSO.

KEMP, R., 2016. *Living without electricity: One city's experience of coping with loss of power.* London: Royal Academy of Engineering.

KPMG, 2015. *Flooding economic impact will breach £5bn* [online], press release 28 December. London: KPMG. Available from: <u>https://home.kpmg.com/uk/en/home/media/press-</u>releases/2015/12/flooding-economic-impact-will-breach-5bn.html [Accessed January 2017].

LGA, 2016a. *Winter flooding: Nearly £250 million damage caused to roads and bridges, new survey reveals* [online], media release 25 March. London: Local Government Association. Available from: <u>http://www.local.gov.uk/web/guest/flood-resilience/-/journal_content/56/10180/7754074/NEWS</u> [Accessed July 2016].

LGA, 2016b. Councils help residents and businesses prepare for further flooding as winter looms [online], press release 1 October. London: Local Government Association. Available from: http://www.local.gov.uk/media-releases/-/journal_content/56/10180/7971877/NEWS [Accessed November 2016].

MARSH, T., KIRBY, C., MUCHAN, K., BARKER, L., HENDERSON, E. AND HANNAFORD, J., 2016. *The winter floods of 2015/2016 in the UK – a review*. Wallingford: Centre for Ecology & Hydrology.

NAO, 2005. *Improving school attendance in England*. London: National Audit Office [cited in Environment Agency 2010].

NETWORK RAIL, 2016. *Flooding. How flooded tracks cause delays – and what we are doing to reduce them* [online]. Available from: <u>http://www.networkrail.co.uk/timetables-and-travel/delays-explained/flooding/</u> [Accessed October 2016].

NFU, 2016. Survey lays bare scale of farm flood damage [online]. <u>https://www.nfuonline.com/cross-sector/environment/water/flooding/survey-lays-bare-scale-of-farm-flood-damage/</u> [Accessed January 2017]. OFWAT, 2009. *Future water and sewerage charges 2010-15: Final determinations*. London: Ofwat.

PARANJOTHY, S., GALLACHER, J., AMLOT, R., RUBIN, G.J., PAGE, L., BAXTER, T., WRIGHT, J., KIRRAGE, D., MCNAUGHT, R. AND PLAMER, S.R., 2011. Psychosocial impact of the summer 2007 floods in England. *BMC Public Health*, 11, 145.

PITT, M., 2008. Learning lessons from the 2007 floods. London: Cabinet Office.

RURAL PAYMENTS AGENCY AND DEFRA, 2016. *First £1 million paid to help recovery of floodhit farmers* [online]. Government press release 6 September. London: Rural Payments Agency. Available from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/news/first-1-million-paid-to-help-recovery-of-flood-</u> <u>hit-farmers</u> [Accessed October 2016].

Bibliography

ABI, 2016. *Flooding of 2015/16: The story so far* [online]. London: Association of British Insurers. Available from: <u>https://www.abi.org.uk/Insurance-and-savings/Topics-and-issues/Flooding/Flooding-in-numbers</u> [Accessed March 2016].

PENNING-ROWSELL, E.C, PRIEST, S., PARKER, D., MORRIS, J., TUNSALL, S., VIAVATTENE, C., CHATTERTON, J. AND OWEN, D., 2013. *Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management: A Manual for Economic Appraisal.* Abingdon, Oxfordshire: Routledge.

RPA AND ROYAL HASKONING, 2008. *Economic impacts of flood risk in Yorkshire and Humber.* A report for the Environment Agency, Yorkshire Forward and the Yorkshire and Humber Assembly.

List of abbreviations

- ABI Association of British Insurers
- CCRA Climate Change Risk Assessment
- DCLG Department for Communities and Local Government
- DECC Department of Energy and Climate Change [now part of BEIS]
- DfE Department for Education
- DfT Department for Transport
- GIS Geographical Information System
- NFU National Farmers' Union
- VAT Value Added Tax

Annex A: Impact costs as a percentage of 'total costs' and 'property costs' by flood event (2015 prices)

	Costs by impact category		Impact total co	Impact category as a percentage of total costs			Impact category as a percentage of property costs				
	2007	2013 to 2014	2015 to 2016	2007	2013 to 2014	2015 to 2016	Average	2007	2013 to 2014	2015 to 2016	Average
Impact category	£ million		% of total costs			% of property costs					
Residential properties	£1,468	£320	£350	38%	25%	21.9%	28%	62%	54%	41%	52%
Businesses	£905	£270	£513	23%	21%	32.0%	26%	38%	46%	59%	48%
Temporary accommodation	£115	£50	£37	3%	4%	2.3%	3%	5%	8%	4%	6%
Vehicles, boats, caravans	£98	£37	£36	2.5%	3.0%	2.2%	3%	4%	6%	4%	5%
Local authorities (excluding roads)	£164	£60	£73	4%	5%	4.6%	5%	7%	10%	9%	9%
Emergency services	£10	£3	£3	0.3%	0.3%	0.2%	0.2%	0.4%	0.6%	0.3%	0.4%
Flood risk management infrastructure and service	£23	£147	£65	1%	12%	4.4%	5%	1%	25%	8%	11%
Utilities (energy and water)	£396	£30	£104	10%	2%	6.5%	6%	17%	5%	12%	11%
Transport (roads and rail)	£278	£295	£341	7%	23%	21.3%	17%	12%	50%	40%	34%
Agriculture	£61	£19	£7	1.6%	1.5%	0.4%	1%	3%	3%	1%	2%
Health	£351	£25	£43	9%	2%	2.7%	5%	15%	4%	5%	8%
Education	£14	£2	£4	0.4%	0.1%	0.2%	0.2%	0.6%	0.3%	0.4%	0.4%
Other (wildlife, heritage and tourism)	-	£13	£19	-	1%	1.2%	1%	-	2%	2%	2%
Total	£3.9 billion	£1.3 billion	£1.6 billion	100%	100%	100%	100%	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a

www.gov.uk/environment-agency

LIT 10736 - Report estimating the economic costs of the winter floods 2015 to 2016

AGENDA ITEM

A.2



December 2017

Background

Following Storm Desmond, flood risk management authorities were commissioned by Government to reduce flood risk not only at community level, but to look for options to reduce flood risk across the County from Source to Sea. This means we have taken a new approach, working at a catchment scale to integrate land management, development and resilience from the tops of the fells down to the coast. In order for us to deliver flood risk benefits across the County in this way we are now part of an established partnership called Cumbria Strategic Flood Partnership (CSFP).

What does Cumbria Strategic Flood Partnership do?

The CSFP aims to lead, coordinate and monitor the management of flood risk across the County. This Partnership brings together Flood Risk Management Authorities including the Environment Agency, Cumbria County Council, District Councils, United Utilities and representation from other organisations including land managers and community groups who have an interest in, or responsibility for, flood risk management.

The CSFP is structured over two levels – the Board (strategic level) and Catchment Management Groups (operational/delivery level). The Board takes an overview of the whole Partnership, setting the direction and ensuring the three Catchment Management Groups deliver their objectives. The Board is currently chaired by Cumbria County Council and the Eden Catchment Management Group is chaired by Eden Rivers Trust.

Cumbria Strategic Flood Partnership Community representation



For more information on the CSFP visit www.cumbriastrategicfloodpartnership.org

or email CSFP@cumbria.gov.uk

incident hotline 0800 80 70 60



Work undertaken in Carlisle

Following the flood event in December 2015, the Environment Agency has:

- Repaired flood defence assets which were damaged during Storm Desmond including the Little Caldew pumping station and Durranhill storage basin.
- Worked with partners to repair other items of infrastructure such as Botcherby Bridge.
- Removed gravel from the River Petteril by Botcherby Bridge and Holme Head gravel trap.
- Completed tree removal in key locations along the Eden and Petteril.
- Completed investigations and produced a plan which will allow the use of temporary defences in several locations across Carlisle. (This is not in place of permanent measures).
- Produced a plan which will facilitate the use of an Ultra High Volume Pump at the Little Caldew and at Durranhill as contingency measures.
- Conducted a review of the existing flood defences in Carlisle to ensure they are performing to their designed standard.
- Channel clearance works Little Caldew, Shaddongate

What next?

In Summer 2017 we published the "long list" of options and since then we have been refining each option, measuring their viability against the following four tests;

- 1. Technical feasibility
- 2. Economic viability
- 3. Environmental sustainability
- 4. Community support

We are now at a stage where we are refining the "short list" options for Carlisle.

Due to the complexity of flooding in Carlisle, more than one solution is required in order to best protect residents. It is necessary to undertake many different elements of work to different extents, to achieve improvements to the standard of protection against flooding. Below is a short summary of the options we're considering:

- Waverley Line A689 Culverts. The creation of a channel to the right bank of the River Eden which will allow overland flow to pass through the existing network of 15 culverts under the A689.
- Parham Beck & Willowholme embankment works. This involves the construction of an earth embankment to the left bank of the River Eden, immediately downstream of the West Coast Main Line.
- West Coast Main Line Arches. This involves the clearance under the arches of the railway line, construction of defence walls to provide increased protection to the bridge abutments, the creation of a channel and clearance to existing culverts under the West Coast Main Line.
- Willow Holme Defences. This option involves the construction of flood defences in the form of walls and embankments along the left bank of the River Caldew.
- Eden Bridge A7 Arch clearance. This option involves the clearance of existing flood relief arches under the River Eden Road Bridge.
- Bitts Park Works. This involves the construction of an earth embankment and minor wall raising to the Bitts Park and The Sands areas.

incident hotline 0800 80 70 60



- Melbourne Park. This option involves the raising and extension of earth embankments upstream of Botcherby Bridge, over the River Petteril.
- Botcherby Bridge works. This option involves a plan to manage gravel removal on the River Petteril at the bridge and provision of means to manage gravel in Melbourne Park.
- Rickerby scheme construction of flood defences to protect the village in the form of earth embankments.
- Flood defence measures on Gosling Sike and Parham Beck.

We are now at a stage where we can share these with the community. These options currently represent a sufficiently good return on government investment to allow us to continue to develop the business case.

The next stage of the business case will see us progress with detailed design and optimisation of the scheme as well as liaising with landowners, applying for the planning applications and permits required to deliver a scheme.

We are also investigating other options with a landowner upstream of the City on the southern bank of the River Eden. There may be scope to manage this land in such a way that there are flood benefits to Carlisle.

In addition to this we are also;

- Undertaking hydraulic modelling which is being used to inform changes to the flood risk areas in Carlisle and using this to inform the flood risk management options.
- Working with Cumbria County Council to look at upstream flood storage options on the Caldew and Petteril crossings of the Carlisle Southern Link Road.
- Investigating the possibility of using temporary defences at additional locations in Carlisle.
- Undertaking tree management along the Caldew.
- Improving multiple river telemetry stations within Carlisle to dual communications or by physical work to increase data resilience and assist with forecasting and warning.
- Undertaking our standard maintenance. Further information can be found at <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/river-and-coastal-maintenance-programme</u>

We are currently organising a community drop-in which will take place in Sunset Suite, Carlisle United Football Club, Brunton Park on Friday 26th January 2018. Drop in any time between 2pm and 7pm. We will formally share the "short list" of options with you and will have plans showing where each option could be located. We will provide an update on the next steps.

(Continued on next page)

incident hotline 0800 80 70 60





The Strategic Outline Business Case provides a high level understanding of the flood risk and demonstrates the need to continue working on a scheme and complete the Final Business Case.

The Final Business Case provides all the detailed technical, economic and environmental information to justify a compelling case to invest the money to build a scheme.

This process can take some time. As we are spending Government's money in providing flood risk management we must follow their rules and procedures. For further information on the funding process and the rules we must follow, read the "guide on how the Environment Agency fund and deliver flood risk management schemes" under the 'Funding' section of the Cumbria Strategic Flood Partnership website <u>http://www.cumbriastrategicfloodpartnership.org</u>

customer service line 03708 506 506 incident hotline 0800 80 70 60



Contacting the Environment Agency

If you would like to contact the Environment Agency about future flood risk management you can email <u>CMBLNC-PSO@environment-agency.gov.uk</u>. If your query relates to community or personal resilience please contact <u>clfloodresilience@environment-agency.gov.uk</u>.

Be flood ready

We will never be able to guarantee a completely flood-free future, and so we encourage anyone living or working in a flood risk area to be aware and to be prepared. We can support you by; signing you up to receive free **flood warnings**, helping you to produce a **personal flood plan**, offering **property resistance and resilience** information and supporting the formation and ongoing work of a **community flood action group**.

It is important that you are prepared for flooding and we encourage you to take 4 simple steps:-

1. Sign up to Floodline to receive free flood warnings

Over 30% of properties within Carlisle have not yet registered to receive flood warnings. The Flood Warning Service is a free system which is used to warn you of imminent flooding to land and property.

2. Know what to do when a flood warning is issued. Have a personal flood plan for you and your family.

3. Keep an eye on the situation. You can view a 5 day weather forecast and monitor the river levels online.

4. Keep up to date with early warnings of heavy rain which could lead to flooding by registering for Cumbria Community Messaging. This is a free e-mail service and is complementary to our Flood Warning Service. To register visit www.cumbriacommunitymessaging.co.uk

For information on the above, visit https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/warnings or ring Floodline on 0345 988 1188



Community Planning

ACTion with Communities in Cumbria (ACT) is supporting community resilience and emergency planning activities across the county. This includes helping people to get together to share their experiences, think about future risks and who in the community might need additional help. Contact ACT for more information on Tel: 01228 817592 or Email info@cumbriaaction.org.uk.

customer service line 03708 506 506 incident hotline 0800 80 70 60



December 2017

Background

Following Storm Desmond, flood risk management authorities were commissioned by Government to reduce flood risk not only at community level, but to look for options to reduce flood risk across the County from Source to Sea. This means we have taken a new approach, working at a catchment scale to integrate land management, development and resilience from the tops of the fells down to the coast. In order for us to deliver flood risk benefits across the County in this way we are now part of an established partnership called Cumbria Strategic Flood Partnership (CSFP).

What does Cumbria Strategic Flood Partnership do?

The CSFP aims to lead, coordinate and monitor the management of flood risk across the County. This Partnership brings together Flood Risk Management Authorities including the Environment Agency, Cumbria County Council, District Councils, United Utilities and representation from other organisations including land managers and community groups who have an interest in, or responsibility for, flood risk management.

The CSFP is structured over two levels – the Board (strategic level) and Catchment Management Groups (operational/delivery level). The Board takes an overview of the whole Partnership, setting the direction and ensuring the three Catchment Management Groups deliver their objectives. The Board is currently chaired by Cumbria County Council and the Eden Catchment Management Group is chaired by Eden Rivers Trust.

Cumbria Strategic Flood Partnership Community representation



For more information on the CSFP visit www.cumbriastrategicfloodpartnership.org

or email CSFP@cumbria.gov.uk

incident hotline 0800 80 70 60



What next?

In Summer 2017 we published the "long list" of options and since then we have been refining each option, measuring their viability against the following four tests;

- 1. Technical feasibility
- 2. Economic viability
- 3. Environmental sustainability
- 4. Community support

We are now at the stage in our appraisal work where we have a "short list" of options for Low Crosby and want to share these with the local community. At present the Strategic Outline Case (SOC) indicates that there are options which represent a sufficiently good return on government investment. These options have been developed with the help of the flood action group.

We will continue to work to develop and refine the short list options required for the full business case, which will be used to secure the most viable flood risk management scheme.

Once the business case is approved we will then progress with detailed design and construction, which includes planning applications, all other approvals, permits and landowner agreements required to deliver a scheme.

It is proposed that future flood risk measures could include a control structure on Willow Beck, localised walls and embankments along the east bank of Willow Beck and the Eden to protect properties on the north bank of the River Eden. These options are in line with the aspirations of the Flood Action Group.

We are also investigating other options with the landowner on the southern bank of the River Eden. There may be scope to manage this land in such a way that there are flood benefits to Low Crosby and communities downstream.

In addition to this we are also;

- Undertaking hydraulic modelling which is being used to inform changes to the flood risk areas at Low Crosby and Warwick Holme and is being used to inform the flood risk management options.
- Investigating the potential of using temporary defences within Low Crosby (this is not in place of permanent measures).
- Refurbishing and improving local river telemetry stations and rainfall gauges to increase data resilience and assist with recording, forecasting and warning.
- Undertaking our standard maintenance. Further information can be found at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/river-and-coastal-maintenance-programme

We are currently organising a community drop-in which will take place in Low Crosby Village Hall on Tuesday 13th February. Drop-in any time between 2pm and 6:30pm. We will formally share the "short list" of options with you and will have plans showing where each option could be located. We will provide an update on the next steps.

incident hotline 0800 80 70 60



Outline Delivery Programme



The Strategic Outline Business Case provides a high level understanding of the flood risk and demonstrates the need to continue working on a scheme and complete the Final Business Case.

The Final Business Case provides all the detailed technical, economic and environmental information to justify a compelling case to invest the money to build a scheme.

This process can take some time. As we are spending Government's money in providing flood risk management we must follow their rules and procedures. For further information on the funding process and the rules we must follow, read the "guide on how the Environment Agency fund and deliver flood risk management schemes" under the 'Funding' section of the Cumbria Strategic Flood Partnership website <u>http://www.cumbriastrategicfloodpartnership.org</u>

customer service line 03708 506 506 incident hotline 0800 80 70 60



Contacting the Environment Agency

If you would like to contact the Environment Agency about future flood risk management you can email <u>CMBLNC-PSO@environment-agency.gov.uk</u>. If your query relates to community or personal resilience please contact <u>clfloodresilience@environment-agency.gov.uk</u>.

Be flood ready

We will never be able to guarantee a completely flood-free future, and so we encourage anyone living or working in a flood risk area to be aware and to be prepared. We can support you by; signing you up to receive free **flood warnings**, helping you to produce a **personal flood plan**, offering **property resistance and resilience** information and supporting the formation and ongoing work of a **community flood action group**.

It is important that you are prepared for flooding and we encourage you to take 4 simple steps:-

1. Sign up to Floodline to receive free flood warnings

Over 15% of properties within Low Crosby have not yet registered to receive flood warnings. The Flood Warning Service is a free system which is used to warn you of imminent flooding to land and property.

2. Know what to do when a flood warning is issued. Have a personal flood plan for you and your family.

3. Keep an eye on the situation. You can view a 5 day weather forecast and monitor the river levels online.

4. Keep up to date with early warnings of heavy rain which could lead to flooding by registering for Cumbria Community Messaging. This is a free e-mail service and is complementary to our Flood Warning Service. To register visit <u>www.cumbriacommunitymessaging.co.uk</u>

For information on the above, visit https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/warnings or ring Floodline on 0345 988 1188



Community Planning

ACTion with Communities in Cumbria (ACT) is supporting community resilience and emergency planning activities across the county. This includes helping people to get together to share their experiences, think about future risks and who in the community might need additional help. Contact ACT for more information on Tel: 01228 817592 or Email info@cumbriaaction.org.uk.

incident hotline 0800 80 70 60



December 2017

Background

Following Storm Desmond, flood risk management authorities were commissioned by Government to reduce flood risk not only at community level, but to look for options to reduce flood risk across the County from Source to Sea. This means we have taken a new approach, working at a catchment scale to integrate land management, development and resilience from the tops of the fells down to the coast. In order for us to deliver flood risk benefits across the County in this way we are now part of an established partnership called Cumbria Strategic Flood Partnership (CSFP).

What does Cumbria Strategic Flood Partnership do?

The CSFP aims to lead, coordinate and monitor the management of flood risk across the County. This Partnership brings together Flood Risk Management Authorities including the Environment Agency, Cumbria County Council, District Councils, United Utilities and representation from other organisations including land managers and community groups who have an interest in, or responsibility for, flood risk management.

The CSFP is structured over two levels – the Board (strategic level) and Catchment Management Groups (operational/delivery level). The Board takes an overview of the whole Partnership, setting the direction and ensuring the three Catchment Management Groups deliver their objectives. The Board is currently chaired by Cumbria County Council and the Eden Catchment Management Group is chaired by Eden Rivers Trust.

Cumbria Strategic Flood Partnership Community representation



For more information on the CSFP visit <u>www.cumbriastrategicfloodpartnership.org</u>

or email <u>CSFP@cumbria.gov.uk</u>

incident hotline 0800 80 70 60



Work undertaken in Warwick Bridge

Following the flood event in December 2015, the Environment Agency has completed investigations and produced a plan which will allow the use of temporary defences along the A69 in Warwick Bridge. (This is not in place of permanent measures).

What next?

In Summer 2017 we published the "long list" of options and since then we have been refining each option, measuring their viability against the following four tests;

- 1. Technical feasibility
- 2. Economic viability
- 3. Environmental sustainability
- 4. Community support

At present the cost of a scheme in Warwick Bridge is relatively high compared to the number of properties that would benefit. For this reason, it remains challenging to develop a business case that is strong enough to secure Treasury investment. This may mean that compromises are required in order to develop a viable scheme. For example, whilst it would be preferable to defend to a standard that would protect to a storm the size of Storm Desmond this may not be feasible.

We continue to explore options and the way in which options can be combined in order to develop a viable scheme to reduce flood risk in Warwick Bridge. We are working with residents of Holme Eden Gardens to see if we can support a bid for a property level protection scheme through the Cumbria Community Flood Foundation. At present there is a funding shortfall for the delivery of this scheme and the Environment Agency have been approached in order to help bridge this shortfall.

A bid has been made to deliver a natural flood management scheme on Cairn Beck. The idea here is to reduce flooding at the grids upstream of the A69 road crossing. This is an area that floods frequently at present.

In addition to this we are also;

- Undertaking hydraulic modelling which is being used to inform changes to the flood risk areas at Warwick Bridge and is being used to inform the flood risk management options.
- Refurbishing our river telemetry station at Great Corby, and further improving other local telemetry sites to increase data resilience and assist with recording, forecasting and warning for Warwick Bridge.
- Undertaking our standard maintenance. Further information can be found at
 <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/river-and-coastal-maintenance-programme</u>

We are organising a community drop-in for Warwick Bridge and Low Crosby which will take place in Low Crosby Village Hall on Tuesday 13th February. Drop in any time between 2pm and 6:30pm. We will formally share the "short list" of options with you and will have plans showing where each option could be located. We will provide an update on the next steps.

incident hotline 0800 80 70 60



Outline Delivery Programme



The Strategic Outline Business Case provides a high level understanding of the flood risk and demonstrates the need to continue working on a scheme and complete the Final Business Case.

The Final Business Case provides all the detailed technical, economic and environmental information to justify a compelling case to invest the money to build a scheme.

This process can take some time. As we are spending Government's money in providing flood risk management we must follow their rules and procedures.

For further information on the funding process and the rules we must follow, read the "guide on how the Environment Agency fund and deliver flood risk management schemes" under the 'Funding' section of the Cumbria Strategic Flood Partnership website <u>http://www.cumbriastrategicfloodpartnership.org</u>

customer service line 03708 506 506 incident hotline 0800 80 70 60



Contacting the Environment Agency

If you would like to contact the Environment Agency about future flood risk management you can email <u>CMBLNC-PSO@environment-agency.gov.uk</u>. If your query relates to community or personal resilience please contact <u>clfloodresilience@environment-agency.gov.uk</u>.

Be flood ready

We will never be able to guarantee a completely flood-free future, and so we encourage anyone living or working in a flood risk area to be aware and to be prepared. We can support you by; signing you up to receive free **flood warnings**, helping you to produce a **personal flood plan**, offering **property resistance and resilience** information and supporting the formation and ongoing work of a **community flood action group**.

It is important that you are prepared for flooding and we encourage you to take 4 simple steps:-

1. Sign up to Floodline to receive free flood warnings

Nearly 20% of properties within Warwick Bridge have not yet registered to receive flood warnings. The Flood Warning Service is a free system which is used to warn you of imminent flooding to land and property.

2. Know what to do when a flood warning is issued. Have a personal flood plan for you and your family.

3. Keep an eye on the situation. You can view a 5 day weather forecast and monitor the river levels online.

4. Keep up to date with early warnings of heavy rain which could lead to flooding by registering for Cumbria Community Messaging. This is a free e-mail service and is complementary to our Flood Warning Service. To register visit www.cumbriacommunitymessaging.co.uk

For information on the above, visit

https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/warnings or ring Floodline on 0345 988 1188



Community Planning

ACTion with Communities in Cumbria (ACT) is supporting community resilience and emergency planning activities across the county. This includes helping people to get together to share their experiences, think about future risks and who in the community might need additional help. Contact ACT for more information on Tel: 01228 817592 or Email info@cumbriaaction.org.uk.

customer service line 03708 506 506 incident hotline 0800 80 70 60

AGENDA ITEM

A.3

Oaklands Drive Carlisle

Flood Investigation



Flood Event 22 November 2017
This flood investigation report has been produced by Cumbria County Council as a Lead Local Flood Authority under Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010.

Version	Undertaken by	Reviewed by	Approved by	Date
Draft	Peter Allan	Helen Renyard		December 2017
Final				

Contents

Executive Summary	4
Event Background	5
Flooding Incident	5
Investigation	6
Existing flood risk	6
Rainfall Event	7
Map of Flow Routes	9
Image of the flooding	13
New Housing Development/Planning Permission	13
Proposed New School	14
Likely Causes of Flooding	14
Flooding History	15
Recommended Actions	17
Next Steps – Community & Catchment Action Plan	18
Appendices	21
Appendix 1: Glossary	21
Appendix 2: Summary of Relevant Legislation and Flood Risk Management Authorities	22
Appendix 3: Useful contacts and links	25

Executive Summary

Cumbria County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has prepared this report with the assistance of other Flood Risk Management Authorities as it considers necessary to do so under Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010.

This Report examines the flooding at Oaklands Drive, Carlisle on the 22 November 2017, detailing flood routes and or the affected properties. The main cause of the flooding was the inability of the drainage infrastructure behind Oaklands Drive to accommodate surface water runoff from neighbouring fields due to blockage downstream and insufficient capacity.

Several actions have been identified in the report which would reduce the risk of future flooding. The recommendations range from installing property level protection, to longer term solutions that may require Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Grant in Aid (FCERM GiA) partnership funding from Defra. Most of the actions will require partnership working from the Oaklands Drive community and Story Homes Ltd with clear guidance and support from Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) working with Making Space for Water officers.

Cumbria County Council's LLFA team has used information from a wide range of sources to compile this report. This includes details from individuals, other authorities, the Oaklands Drive community and on-site observations. Whilst best endeavours have been made to be factual, to understand the full scope of the flooding that occurred and the mechanisms influencing it, some information has been used from secondary sources. If this has resulted in incorrect reporting, please inform the LLFA on tel. 01228 221330 or email LFRM@cumbria.gov.uk stating Oaklands Drive in the title.

Event Background

This section describes the location of the flood incident and identifies the properties that were flooded.

Flooding Incident

Oaklands Drive is situated in the Upperby area on the south edge of Carlisle. The properties affected by the flooding include those backing on to fields and within the Oaklands Drive estate and are in a semi-rural setting close to Hammond's Pond.

Old maps suggest that there were brick works and a clay pit in the area. Indications from the old maps suggest that Hammond's Pond was likely to have been created to initially support the brick making industry before being used for leisure at a later date. This gives an indication that the soil types in the area were clay.

The fields behind fall towards Oaklands Drive where a culvert has been installed to transfer surface water to Wire Mire Beck close to Hammond's Pond. It is understood that the culvert was installed at a similar time to the construction of the properties in the 1950s. However, it is not clear if the culvert was planned before the properties were constructed or if it was installed at a later date due to the volumes of surface water.



Figure 1: Location Plan

Nine properties were affected with eight being flooded internally by the flooding in 2017.

Investigation

This section provides details of the existing flood risk, an analysis of flow routes and details of likely causes of flooding. Also included are details of the rainfall event and any previous flooding history in the area.

Existing flood risk

This section provides information on areas of flood risk from the Environment Agency mapping that is available. The following information is publically available and can be viewed at the following website - https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/long-term-flood-risk/map. As can be viewed from the extract below the properties that were affected were already identified as being in a flood risk area.



Figure 2: Surface water flood risk map

As it will be seen within this report the flooding that occurred did follow the predicted flow routes from the mapping.

Rainfall Event

The following details provides information on the rainfall event that occurred on the 22nd November 2017 and also provides a comparison of previous rainfall events on 7th January 2005, 5th December 2015 and this event on 22nd November 2017.

The following diagrams provide an indication of the event that crossed Cumbria on 22nd of November 2017.



Figure 3: Details of rainfall event across Cumbria on 22nd November 2017

Rainfall intensity on the 22nd November at Oaklands Drive is shown below. The rainfall totals on the 22nd November 2017 were 39mm in 24 hours and 50mm for 36 hours from 22nd into 23rd of November.



Figure 4: Rainfall totals 22nd to 23rd November 2017

In comparing the rainfall over the 24hr period with then average rainfall for the Carlisle area in November it would appear that over half a **month's** rainfall fell in **24 hours**.



Figure 5: Average annual rainfall for the Carlisle area

This rainfall event was then compared with previous heavy rainfall events of 7th January 2005 and 5th December 2015. It can be seen that similar peak rainfall was recorded for all of the events except for the 6.5mm peak which occurred late on the 22nd November 2017 but much later than the flooding occurred. The following graph indicates these events.



Figure 6: Comparison of rainfall events

The following table provides rainfall totals for these days in table 1

Rainfall event	Total rainfall
5/12/2005	30.8mm
5/12/2015	38.8mm
22/11/2017	39.2mm

Table1: Comparison of rainfall totals

Map of Flow Routes

The following diagram shows the route of the surface water towards the land drainage system at the rear of Oaklands Drive.



Figure 7: Plan indicating flow routes

The following photographs indicate the area above where the flooding occurred.



Photograph 1: Surface water flowing from field behind houses



Photograph 2: Land Drainage route from fields above

Investigations including CCTV surveys of the land drainage system has identified that the drainage system consists of a series of 225mm, 300mm and 450mm diameter pipes make up the system. The land drainage system is located along the back of 134-150 Oaklands Drive and then runs through the gardens of 132 & 134 Oaklands Drive before being located in the field behind 130 Oaklands Drive where it then travels to discharge into Wire Mire Beck.

As well as the above land drainage system there is also a small overflow from the low area at the rear of the flooded properties which connects into the public surface water sewer within the Oaklands Drive estate. The following plan indicates the public sewer within the estate.

Also located in the lane behind Oaklands Drive is an 'overflow' drain which discharges to the public sewer (surface water) in Oaklands Drive. It is unclear when this structure was constructed, whether this was before or after the culvert but unfortunately it flows to the 150mm diameter sewer which during a heavy rainfall event may already be close to its capacity. It is understood that the surface water that flowed through the small overflow in this event overwhelmed the public sewer system that in turn caused surcharging from the public sewer system in other parts of the estate.



Figure 8: Plan of public sewers in Oaklands Drive

Photograph 3 indicates the entrance to the overflow which leads to the public sewer.



Photograph 3: Overflow drain to public sewer

It has been known that the surface water sometimes runs around the first stretch of culvert and falls into the next section through an opening covered by a grid as shown in photograph 4. In normal circumstances this is sufficient to accommodate the surface water flows. However, there are several large trees in the area which can create debris to build up on the grid causing it to block. It is understood that residents do monitor the grid and remove debris as and when required. However, since the start of the new development and construction of the temporary access this has been difficult as the grid has been enclosed within the site barriers



Photograph 4: Grid over culvert

During the flood event on 24th September 2012 residents have confirmed that a member of the public had entered the flood water and removed the grid which allowed the flood water to flow away from the area.

A CCTV survey of the land drainage system was undertaken on the 14th December 2017 and the results of this have not yet been viewed but early discussions with the contractors have indicated that some sections of the drain are in poor condition. These will need to be appropriately addressed either by repairing them or diverting the culvert.

Image of the flooding

The following photograph shows the flood water flowing from the front door of the property. The flood water had entered at the rear of the property.



Photograph 1: Image of flooding shared on social media

New Housing Development/Planning Permission

In 2012 Story Homes applied for planning permission (Application reference 12/0793) to construct 318 dwellings on the land bounded by Hammonds Pond, Oaklands Drive and Durdar Road with permission being granted subject to various conditions. The development also proposes to include properties being constructed at the rear of some of the flooded properties, however, the construction of these houses have not yet been started.

Due to the size of the development the construction is phased to be carried out over several years with construction starting in 2016 and the final phase 3 section starting in the latter part of 2018.

A further application for a temporary access under planning permission 17/0400 was granted planning permission in August 2017. This was to provide a temporary access to the site from Scalegate Road and runs along the rear boundary of some of the flooded properties.

Proposed New School

It is also known that it is proposed that the site for the new Newman School is likely to be located on land above Oaklands Drive as indicated within the following plan.



Figure 9: Location of proposed new school site

It is anticipated that the drainage design for the new school will also help to reduce the risk of flooding as attenuation of rainfall and surface water can be incorporated on the site.

Likely Causes of Flooding

During the investigations it was identified that a restriction was located within the culvert that runs through some of the gardens. This restriction was caused due to a previous repair on the land drain. However, comparing the rainfall data from the December 2015 event and the November 2017 event it is not considered that the rainfall was heavy enough for this restriction to cause a problem and has therefore been ruled out as the cause of the problem.

It was, however, identified that a section of the culvert at the upstream end was heavily silted and during the cleaning works on the 14th December 2017 a soft toy was removed from the drainage system. However, this had been partially blocked in previous years and any excess surface water by passed this section of culvert and flowed into an open grid downstream as demonstrated in the following diagram.



Figure 10: Plan indicating how culvert blockage is affecting flow

Although when clear it appears that the drainage system is sufficient to carry the surface water away from the site but when blocked it has been known to cause drainage problems and on occasion flooding of properties. It has been a long standing concern that the ownership of this culvert has been unknown and therefore clearance of the grid was generally carried out by the affected residents. However, with the start of the new housing development the area around the grid was fenced off and the residents were unable to clear the grid.

From the investigations carried out it is concluded that the cause of the flooding was that surface water was unable to enter the culvert due to partial blockage of the culvert inlet and recent leaf fall and vegetation blocking the grid.

Flooding History

Flooding events have occurred in this location previously as follows:

- 8 January 2005 (no internal flooding lane and gardens) flooding caused by a collapse on the culvert downstream. Collapse repaired by owner.
- 11 October 2005 anecdotal evidence that 2 properties were flooded internally from surface water runoff from the rear of their properties.
- 7 December 2006 flooding of nearby properties occurred understood to be caused by surface water from the culvert which was exacerbated by a blockage on the public surface water sewer.

• 24 September 2012 – three properties flooded internally which is understood to be caused by a blockage within the drainage culvert behind Oaklands Drive. Again this was from surface water runoff being unable to enter the culvert behind the properties.

Recommended Actions

Cumbria Flood Partnership Themes:	Action by:	Recommended Action:	Timescale:
Community resilience	Developer	Ensure works are carried out to reduce the risk of flooding during the development work (bunding and monitoring)	Work started and more work ongoing Dec 2017
	Residents	Report any flooding incidents to Cumbria County Council	Ongoing
	CCC LLFA / LPA	Ensure developers in the area manage surface water on site so that flood risk to neighbouring properties is not increased as a result of the development.	Ongoing
	Residents	Consider Installation of property level protection	Timescale to suit individual residents
Upstream Management	LLFA/Story/ LPA/UU	Investigate options for reducing surface water flows from fields to the north east with runoff attenuation features, such as cut-off ditches, bunds and upland storage ponds. Before Phase 3 is started	Ongoing discussions
Maintenance	Residents / Developer	Check screen regularly	Ongoing

Next Steps – Community & Catchment Action Plan

The Cumbria Floods Partnership has brought together a wide range of community representatives and stakeholders from a variety of sectors to plan and take action to reduce flood risk. The Cumbria Floods Partnership, led by the Environment Agency, is producing a 25 year flood action plan for the Cumbrian catchments worst affected by the December 2015 flooding, including Carlisle. The plan will consider options to reduce flood risk across the whole length of a river catchment including upstream land management, strengthening flood defences, reviewing maintenance of banks and channels, considering water level management boards and increasing property resilience. The Cumbria Floods Partnership structure below details how these 5 themes are being delivered in the Flood Action plans which will be completed in July.

The diagrams below help demonstrate how the two partnerships have now come together:



Defra 25 Year Environment Plan Cumbria Flood Action Plan Local Flood Risk Management Strategy January 2016 - Cumbria 2013 – LLFA Cumbria 2016 – Cumbria Pioneer Flood Partnership Strategic Partnership DEFRA 25 Year Environment Plan Flood and Water Management Act Created following December 2015 andvision floods (2010)New and innovative ways of working Professional partnership providing Local knowledge and expertise Making bestuse of resources strategic leadership for flood risk Integrated catchment management management Working at Catchment scale through Community focus engagement and commitment Reporting to RFCC 25 year Cumbria Flood Action Plan Place based decision making within Lead– Rory Stewart MP, Environment Agency and 3 Catchment Directors

Communities

DEFRA vision

Lead – Jez Westgarth, Environment Agency

Coordination and cooperation between Risk Management Authorities (RMA's)

Lead – CCC as LLFA



Communities working together across Cumbria

Cumbria County Council



91

Appendices

Appendix 1: Glossary

Acronyms

EA	Environment Agency
CCC	Cumbria County Council
UU	United Utilities
LLFA	Lead Local Flood Authority
LFRM	Local Flood Risk Management
MSfWG	Making Space for Water Group
FAG	Flood Action Group
	·

FWMA	Flood and Water Management Act 2010
------	-------------------------------------

- LDA
- Land Drainage Act 1991 Water Resources Act 1991 WRA

Appendix 2: Summary of Relevant Legislation and Flood Risk Management Authorities

The Flood Risk Regulations 1999 and the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (the Act) have established Cumbria County Council (CCC) as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) for Cumbria. This has placed various responsibilities on CCC including Section 19 of the Act which states:

Section 19

- (1) On becoming aware of a flood in its area, a lead local flood authority must, to the extent that it considers it necessary or appropriate, investigate—
 - (a) which risk management authorities have relevant flood risk management functions, and
 - (b) whether each of those risk management authorities has exercised, or is proposing to exercise, those functions in response to the flood.
- (2) Where an authority carries out an investigation under subsection (1) it must-
 - (a) publish the results of its investigation, and
 - (b) notify any relevant risk management authorities.

A 'Risk Management Authority' (RMA) means:

- (a) the Environment Agency,
- (b) a lead local flood authority,
- (c) a district council for an area for which there is no unitary authority,
- (d) an internal drainage board,
- (e) a water company, and
- (f) a highway authority.

The table below summarises the relevant Risk Management Authority and details the various local source of flooding that they will take a lead on.

	<u> </u>				
Flood	Environment	Lead Local	District	Water	Highway
Source	Agency	Flood	Council	Company	Authority
		Authority			
RIVERS					
Main river					
Ordinary					
watercourse					
SURFACE					
RUNOFF					
Surface					
water					
Surface					
water on the					
highway					
OTHER					
Sewer					
flooding					
The sea					
Groundwater					
Reservoirs					

The following information provides a summary of each Risk Management Authority's roles and responsibilities in relation to flood reporting and investigation.

<u>Government</u> – Defra develop national policies to form the basis of the Environment Agency's and Cumbria County Council's work relating to flood risk.

<u>Environment Agency</u> has a strategic overview of all sources of flooding and coastal erosion as defined in the Act. As part of its role concerning flood investigations this requires providing evidence and advice to support other risk management authorities. The EA also collates and reviews assessments, maps and plans for local flood risk management (normally undertaken by LLFA).

<u>Lead Local Flood Authorities (LLFAs)</u> – Cumbria County Council is the LLFA for Cumbria. Part of their role requires them to investigate significant local flooding incidents and publish the results of such investigations. LLFAs have a duty to determine which risk management authority has relevant powers to investigate flood incidents to help understand how they happened, and whether those authorities have or intend to exercise their powers. LLFAs work in partnership with communities and flood risk management authorities to maximise knowledge of flood risk to all involved. This function is carried out at CCC by the Local Flood Risk Management Team.

<u>District and Borough Councils</u> – These organisations perform a significant amount of work relating to flood risk management including providing advice to communities and gathering information on flooding.

<u>Water and Sewerage Companies</u> manage the risk of flooding to water supply and sewerage facilities and the risk to others from the failure of their infrastructure. They make sure their systems have the appropriate level of resilience to flooding and where frequent and severe flooding occurs they are required to address this through their capital investment plans. It should also be noted that following the Transfer of Private Sewers Regulations 2011 water and sewerage companies are responsible for a larger number of sewers than prior to the regulation.

<u>Highway Authorities</u> have the lead responsibility for providing and managing highway drainage and certain roadside ditches that they have created under the Highways Act 1980. The owners of land adjoining a highway also have a common-law duty to maintain ditches to prevent them causing a nuisance to road users.

Flood risk in Cumbria is managed through the Making Space for Water process which involves the cooperation and regular meeting of the Environment Agency, United Utilities, District/Borough Councils and CCC's Highway and LFRM Teams to develop processes and schemes to minimise flood risk. The MSfWGs meet approximately 4 times per year to cooperate and work together to improve the flood risk in the vulnerable areas identified in this report by completing the recommended actions. CCC as LLFA has a responsibility to oversee the delivery of these actions.

Where minor works or quick win schemes can be identified, these will be prioritised and subject to available funding and resources will be carried out as soon as possible. Any major works requiring capital investment will be considered through the Environment Agency's Medium Term Plan or a partners own capital investment process.

Flood Action Groups are usually formed by local residents who wish to work together to resolve flooding in their area. The FAGs are often supported by either CCC or the EA and provide a useful mechanism for residents to forward information to the MSfWG.

Appendix 3: Useful contacts and links

Cumbria County Council (Local Flood Risk Management): Ifrm@cumbria.gov.uk, www.cumbria.gov.uk, tel: 01228 221330

Cumbria County Council (Highways): highways@cumbria.gov.uk, www.cumbria.gov.uk, tel: 0845 609 6609 Out of hours emergencies should be reported via the Police on 101

Insert Neighbourhood forum contact details

United Utilities: www.unitedutilities.com, tel: 0845 746 2200

Carlisle City Council: tel: 01228 817000

Flood and Water Management Act 2010: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/contents

Water Resources Act 1991: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/all?title=water%20resources%20act

Land Drainage Act: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/all?title=land%20drainage%20act

Highways Act 1980:

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/all?title=highways%20act

EA – 'Living on the Edge' a guide to the rights and responsibilities of riverside occupation: http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/homeandleisure/floods/31626.aspx

EA - 'Prepare your property for flooding' how to reduce flood damage including flood protection products and services:

http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/homeandleisure/floods/31644.aspx

Translation services

If you require this document in another format (e.g. CD, audio cassette, Braille or large type) or in another language, please telephone 01228 606060.

আপনি যদি এই তথ্য আপনার নিজের ভাষায় পেতে চান তাহলে অনুগ্রহ করে 01228 606060 নম্বরে টেলিফোন করুন।

如果您希望通过母语了解此信息, 请致电 01228 606060

Jeigu norėtumėte gauti šią informaciją savo kalba, skambinkite telefonu 01228 606060

W celu uzyskania informacji w Państwa języku proszę zatelefonować pod numer 01228 606060

Se quiser aceder a esta informação na sua língua, telefone para o 01228 606060

Bu bilgiyi kendi dilinizde görmek istiyorsanız lütfen 01228 606060 numaralı telefonu arayınız

cumbria.gov.uk